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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
DIRECTORS' REPORT 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
 
The Directors are pleased to submit their report to the member together with the audited financial 
statements of the Bank for the financial year ended 31 December 2017. 
 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 
The principal activities of the Bank are banking and related financial services. 
 
There was no significant change in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 
 
 
FINANCIAL RESULTS 
 RM’000 
 
Net profit for the financial year 60,581 
 ══════ 
 
 
DIVIDENDS 
 
No dividend has been paid, declared or proposed since the end of the Bank’s previous financial 
year.  The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the financial year ended 
31 December 2017. 
 
 
RESERVES AND PROVISIONS 
 
There were no material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year other 
than those disclosed in the financial statements. 
 
 
EQUITY COMPENSATION BENEFITS 
 
The ultimate holding company, JPMorgan Chase & Co. (“JPMC”) has a Long-Term Incentive Plan 
(“LTIP”) that provides for grants of common stock-based awards, including stock options, restricted 
stock, and restricted stock units (“RSU”) to certain key employees employed by JPMC and its 
subsidiaries. JPMC also grants stock options to other employees as recognition of the services 
rendered, under its broad based employee stock option plan such as the Value Sharing Plan. 
 
Details of the equity compensation benefits are set out in Note 31 to the financial statements. 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
DIRECTORS' REPORT 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 
 
DIRECTORS 
 
The Directors of the Bank in office during the financial year and during the period from the end of 
the financial year to the date of the report are as follows: 
 
Robert Armor Morris (appointed on 23 January 2018) 
Steven Ronald Clayton  
Faisal bin Ismail  
Omar bin Malek Ali Merican 
John Leo Buckley 
Lau Souk Huan (resigned on 22 September 2017) 
Fauziah binti Hisham (resigned on 7 March 2018) 
 
In accordance with Article 96 of the Bank's Articles of Association, Faisal bin Ismail and Omar bin 
Malek Ali Merican will retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offering 
themselves for re-election.  
 
 
DIRECTORS' BENEFITS 
 
Neither during nor at the end of the financial year was the Bank a party to any arrangements 
whose object was to enable the Directors of the Bank to acquire benefits by means of the 
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Bank or any other body corporate except that certain 
Directors received remuneration as Directors and employees of the Bank and related corporations, 
and share options granted to Directors of the Bank by the ultimate holding company. 
 
Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Bank has received or become 
entitled to receive any benefit (other than the benefits shown under Directors' Remuneration as 
disclosed in Note 23 to the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Bank or a 
related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a 
company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest. 
 
 
DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES AND OPTIONS 
 
According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings required to be kept under Section 59 of the 
Companies Act, 2016, the Directors who held office at the end of the financial year did not hold 
any interest in shares, restricted stock units and share options, of the Bank and its related 
corporations during the financial year. 
 
 
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 
 
Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 23 to the financial statements. 
 
 
AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 
 
Details of auditors’ remuneration are set out in Note 21 to the financial statements. 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
DIRECTORS' REPORT 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 
 
BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS 
 
Before the financial statements of the Bank were prepared, the Directors took reasonable steps to 
ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the 
making of allowance for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had 
been written off and that adequate allowance had been made for bad and doubtful debts. 
 
At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the 
amounts written off for bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts in the financial 
statements of the Bank inadequate to any substantial extent. 
 
 
CURRENT ASSETS 
 
Before the financial statements of the Bank were prepared, the Directors took reasonable steps to 
ascertain that any current assets, other than debts, which were unlikely to be realised in the 
ordinary course of business including the values of current assets as shown in the accounting 
records of the Bank had been written down to an amount which the current assets might be 
expected to realise. 
 
At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the 
values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Bank misleading. 
 
 
VALUATION METHODS 
 
At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen 
which would render adherence to the existing methods of valuation of assets or liabilities in the 
Bank’s financial statements misleading or inappropriate. 
 
 
CONTINGENT AND OTHER LIABILITIES 
 
At the date of this report, there does not exist: 
 
(a) any charge on the assets of the Bank which has arisen since the end of the financial year 

which secures the liability of any other person; or 
 
(b) any contingent liability in respect of the Bank which has arisen since the end of the 

financial year other than in the ordinary course of banking business. 
 
No contingent or other liability of the Bank has become enforceable or is likely to become 
enforceable, within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the 
opinion of the Directors, will or may affect the ability of the Bank to meet its obligations when they 
fall due. 
 
 
CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES 
 
At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with 
in this report or the financial statements of the Bank which would render any amount stated in the 
financial statements misleading. 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
DIRECTORS' REPORT 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 
 
ITEMS OF AN UNUSUAL NATURE 
 
The results of the Bank's operations during the financial year were not, in the opinion of the 
Directors, substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature. 
 
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report 
any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the 
results of the Bank’s operations for the current financial year in which this report is made. 
 
 
BUSINESS STRATEGY AND REVIEW 2017 
 
The Bank’s financial results for 2017 exceeded expectation and the momentum going into 2018 is 
encouraging. The Bank’s key businesses, in particular transaction services, trade, wholesale 
banking and markets flow business, delivered strong growth which further strengthened its position 
within the domestic Malaysian market.  
 
The Bank recorded a profit before tax of RM82 million, a decrease of RM23 million against 2016. 
Net interest income increased by RM12 million or 15% to RM89 million, contributed by lower 
interest expense on placement of financial institutions. Other operating income decreased by 
RM21 million or 12%, with lower net income from financial assets held for trading of RM10 million.  
Meanwhile, operating expenses increased by RM14 million or 10% to RM155 million. 
 
The Bank’s total assets decreased by 27% to RM6.4 billion, contributed by lower cash and short-
term funds with banks and financial institutions of RM25 million. Customer deposits showed a 
decrease of 43% to RM3.1 billion, however, there was an increase in deposits from related parties 
by RM856 million in 2017. The Bank’s total capital ratio remained strong at 26%, with its Tier 1 
capital ratio at 26% as at end of 2017. 
 
 
BUSINESS OUTLOOK FOR 2018 
 
The macro-economic environment looks more promising going into 2018. In view of this, the 
markets in which we operate look reasonably healthy leading to optimism in the outlook and better 
prospects for the business.   
 
J.P. Morgan’s target clients, which consists of multi-national corporations, large domestic 
corporates, financial institutions and non-bank financial institutions, benefit from our significant 
competitive advantage in terms of our broad product mix and global network. Both elements 
ensure we can effectively service clients that have both a domestic and international presence.  
 
Globally, with J.P. Morgan’s strong capitalisation, fortress balance sheet and proven track record 
in meeting the needs of our clients with exceptional products, innovative solutions and best in 
class advice, our revenue will continue to grow.  In addition, J.P. Morgan’s Corporate and 
Investment Bank’s international businesses are important components of J.P. Morgan’s overall 
global strategy and remain a significant focus of the firm. They will continue to contribute positively 
to our growth aspirations. 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
 Note 2017 2016 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 
ASSETS 
 
Cash and short-term funds 2 3,893,686 3,918,993 
Securities purchased under resale agreement  46,776 602,550 
Financial assets held for trading 3 887,490 986,291 
Derivative financial instruments 4 516,759 917,635 
Financial assets available-for-sale 5 148,476 140,963 
Loans and advances 6 307,077 618,262 
Amount due from related parties 7 549,747 1,277,377 
Statutory deposits with Bank Negara Malaysia 8 2 2 
Other assets 9 53,854 273,591 
Tax recoverable  19,889 10,590 
Deferred tax assets 10 3,110 2,403 
Fixed assets 11 5,906 10,189 
  ──────── ──────── 
TOTAL ASSETS  6,432,772 8,758,846 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' 
  EQUITY 
 
Deposits from customers 12 3,129,533 5,457,190 
Deposits and placements of banks 
  and other financial institutions 13 224,762 240,310 
Obligations on securities sold under 
  repurchase agreements  48,384 278,001 
Derivative financial instruments 4 519,968 799,373 
Amount due to related parties 14 1,352,728 613,740 
Other liabilities 15 112,439 387,782 
  ──────── ──────── 
Total liabilities  5,387,814 7,776,396 
  ──────── ──────── 
 
Share capital 16 127,500 85,500 
Share premium  - 42,000 
Retained earnings  896,950 734,627 
Reserves 17 20,508 120,323 
  ──────── ──────── 
Shareholder’s equity  1,044,958 982,450 
  ──────── ──────── 
 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND 
  SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY  6,432,772 8,758,846 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
COMMITMENTS AND 
  CONTINGENCIES 25 64,125,536 61,767,373 
  ════════ ════════ 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
 Note 2017 2016 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 
Interest income 18 135,790 172,527 
 
Interest expense 19 (47,221) (95,568) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Net interest income  88,569 76,959 
 
Other operating income 20 148,853 169,668 
  ──────── ──────── 
Net income  237,422 246,627 
 
Operating expenses 21 (155,488) (141,832) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Operating profit before allowances  81,934 104,795 
 
(Allowance)/write back for losses on loans 
  and advances 22 (218) 538 
  ──────── ──────── 
Profit before taxation  81,716 105,333 
 
Taxation 24 (21,135) (27,096) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Net profit for the financial year  60,581 78,237 
  ──────── ──────── 
Other comprehensive income: 
 
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 
- Employee share option scheme  2,139 4,024 
 
Items that may be subsequently reclassified 
  to profit or loss 
Financial assets available-for-sale 
- Net loss on revaluation of financial assets 
    available-for-sale  (279) (1,421) 
- Income tax relating to component of other 
    comprehensive income  67 341 
  ──────── ──────── 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax  1,927 2,944 
  ──────── ──────── 
 
Total comprehensive income  62,508 81,181 
  ════════ ════════ 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
     Fair value 
     reserve - 
     available- 
  Share Share Statutory for-sale Option Regulatory Retained 
 Note capital premium   reserve   securities reserve      reserve earnings Total 
  RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM’000 RM'000 
 
At 1 January 2017  85,500 42,000 97,778 252 15,914 6,379 734,627 982,450 
 
Net profit for the financial year  - - - - - - 60,581 60,581 
 
Transfer (from)/ to regulatory reserve  - - - - - (3,964) 3,964 - 
 
Transfer to share capital 16 42,000 (42,000) - - - - - - 
 
Transfer from statutory reserves 17 - - (97,778) - - - 97,778 - 
 
Other comprehensive income  - - - (212) - - - (212) 
 
Employee share option scheme  
  - Options granted 31 - - - - 2,139 - - 2,139 
  ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
At 31 December 2017  127,500 - - 40 18,053 2,415 896,950 1,044,958 
  ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 
     Fair value 
     reserve - 
     available- 
  Share Share Statutory for-sale Option Regulatory Retained 
 Note capital premium   reserve   securities reserve      reserve earnings Total 
  RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM’000 RM'000 
 
At 1 January 2016  85,500 42,000 97,778 1,332 11,890 2,384 660,385 901,269 
 
Net profit for the financial year  - - - - - - 78,237 78,237 
 
Transfer to regulatory reserve  - - - - - 3,995 (3,995) - 
 
Other comprehensive income  - - - (1,080) - - - (1,080) 
 
Employee share option scheme  
  - Options granted 31 - - - - 4,024 - - 4,024 
  ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
At 31 December 2016  85,500 42,000 97,778 252 15,914 6,379 734,627 982,450 
  ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
  2017 2016 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 
Profit before taxation  81,716 105,333 
 
Adjustments for items not involving the movement 
  of cash and cash equivalents: 
 
Depreciation of fixed assets  5,711 5,781 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets  31 13 
Allowance for/(write-back of) losses on loans and 
  advances  218 (538) 
Share options expenses  2,139 4,024 
Net loss on derivatives  14,710 30,268 
Net unrealised loss/(gain) from revaluation 
  of financial assets held for trading  1,304 (3,536) 
Net unrealised gain in revaluation on 
  derivatives  (27,258) (22,676) 
  ──────── ──────── 
OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE WORKING 
  CAPITAL CHANGES  78,571 118,669 
 
Decrease/(increase) in securities purchased under  
  resale agreement  555,774 (174,433) 
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets held 
  for trading  97,497 (962,446) 
Decrease in derivative financial instruments  134,019 12,467 
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets 
  available-for-sale  (7,725) 149 
Decrease/(increase) in loans and advances  310,967 (286,989) 
Decrease/(increase) in other assets  219,671 (237,978) 
Decrease in statutory deposits with BNM  - 3,044 
(Decrease)/increase in deposits from customers  (2,327,657) 1,840,263 
Decrease in deposits and placements 
  of banks and other financial institutions  (15,548) (584,938) 
(Decrease)/increase in other liabilities  (275,343) 315,522 
(Decrease)/increase in securities sold under  
  repurchase agreement  (229,617) 129,768 
Increase/(decrease) in amount due to related 
  parties  738,988 (2,999,487) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Cash used in operating activities  (720,403) (2,826,389) 
Income taxes paid  (31,075) (13,615) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Net cash used in operating activities  (751,478) (2,840,004) 
  ──────── ──────── 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 
 Note 2017 2016 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITY 
 
Purchase of fixed assets  (1,459) (940) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Net cash used in investing activity  (1,459) (940) 
  ──────── ──────── 
 
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH 
  EQUIVALENTS  (752,937) (2,840,944) 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING 
  OF FINANCIAL YEAR  5,196,370 8,037,314 
  ──────── ──────── 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END 
  OF FINANCIAL YEAR  4,443,433 5,196,370 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and short-term funds 2 3,893,686 3,918,993 
Amount due from related parties 7 549,747 1,277,377 
  ──────── ──────── 
  4,443,433 5,196,370 
  ════════ ════════ 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
 
The following accounting policies have been used consistently in dealing with items which are 
considered material in relation to the financial statements and are also consistent with those applied in 
the previous year, unless otherwise stated. 

 
A BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
 The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with the Malaysian 

Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards, Bank 
Negara Malaysia (“BNM”) Guidelines and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2016 in 
Malaysia. 

 
 The financial statements have been prepared under historical cost convention unless otherwise 

indicated in this summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with MFRS, International Financial Reporting 

Standard and BNM Guidelines requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reported year.  It also requires Directors to exercise their judgement in 
the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies.  Although these estimates are based on 
the Directors’ best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may differ. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in accounting policy Note R. 
 
(a) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations that are effective and 

applicable to the Bank. 
 
The following amended standard and annual improvements have been adopted for the 
first time by the Bank for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2017: 
 
 Amendments to MFRS 107 Statement of Cash Flows - Disclosure Initiative 
 Amendments to MFRS 112 Income Taxes - Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for 

Unrealised Losses 
 
The adoption of these amendments did not have any impact on the current or any prior 
year and are not likely to affect future periods of the financial statements of the Bank. 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

A BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 
 
(b) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards 

that are applicable to the Bank but not yet effective. 
 
 A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are 

effective for financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2018: 
 

 MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective from 1 January 2018) will replace MFRS 
139 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. 
 
Classification and measurements 
 
MFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model in MFRS 139 and 
establishes three primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortised 
cost, fair value through profit or loss and fair value through other comprehensive 
income (“OCI”). The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model 
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. Investments in 
equity instruments are always measured at fair value through profit or loss with an 
irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair value in OCI (provided the 
instrument is not held for trading). A debt instrument is measured at amortised cost 
only if the entity is holding it to collect contractual cash flows and the cash flows 
represent principal and interest. 
 
For liabilities, the standard retains most of the MFRS 139 requirements. These 
include amortised cost accounting for most financial liabilities, with bifurcation of 
embedded derivatives. The main changes are:-  
 
 For financial liabilities classified as FVTPL, the fair value changes due to own 

credit risk should be recognised directly to OCI. There is no subsequent 
recycling to profit or loss 

 
 When a financial liability measured at amortised cost is modified without this 

resulting in derecognition, a gain or loss, being the difference between the 
original contractual cash flows and the modified cash flows discounted at the 
original effective interest rate, should be recognised immediately in profit or 
loss. 

 
There will be no changes to the Bank’s accounting for financial liabilities. All the 
financial liabilities, except for derivatives financial liabilities and financial liabilities 
designated at fair value, which are at FVTPL, will remain as amortised cost as there 
has not been significant change in the requirements for financial liabilities under 
MFRS 9. 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

A BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 
 
(b) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards 

that are applicable to the Bank but not yet effective. (continued) 
 
 MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective from 1 January 2018) will replace MFRS 

139 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” (continued) 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
MFRS 9 introduces an expected credit losses model on impairment impairment that 
replaces the incurred loss impairment model used in MFRS 139. The expected 
credit loss model is forward-looking and eliminates the need for a trigger event to 
have occurred before credit losses are recognised.  
 
The new impairment model requires the recognition of impairment allowances based 
on expected credit losses (“ECL”) rather than only incurred credit losses as is the 
case under MFRS 139. It applies to financial assets classified at amortised cost, 
debt instruments measured at FVOCI, lease receivables, loan commitments, 
financial guarantee contracts and other loan commitments. 
 
Under MFRS 9, impairment will be measured on each reporting date according to a 
three-stage expected credit loss impairment model: 
 
 Stage 1 – from initial recognition of a financial assets to the date on which the 

credit risk of the asset has increased significantly relative to its initial 
recognition, a loss allowance is recognised equal to the credit losses 
expected to result from defaults occurring over the next 12 months (12-month 
ECL). 
 

 Stage 2 – following a significant increase in credit risk relative to the initial 
recognition of the financial assets, a loss allowance is recognised equal to the 
credit losses expected over the remaining life of the asset (Lifetime ECL). 
 

 Stage 3 – When a financial asset is considered to be credit-impaired, a loss 
allowance equal to full lifetime expected credit losses is to be recognised 
(Lifetime ECL). 

 
As all financial assets within the scope of MFRS 9 impairment model will be 
assessed for at least 12-month ECL, and the population of financial assets to which 
full lifetime ECL applies is larger than the population of impaired loans for which 
there is objective evidence of impairment in accordance with MFRS 139.  
 
In addition, changes in the required credit loss allowance, including the impact of 
movements between Stage 1 (12-month ECL) and Stage 2 (lifetime ECL) and the 
application of forward looking information, will be recorded in profit or loss and 
allowance for credit losses will be more volatile under MFRS 9. 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

A BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 
 
(c) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards 

that are applicable to the Bank but not yet effective. (continued) 
 

 MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective from 1 January 2018) will replace MFRS 
139 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” (continued) 

 
Disclosures 
 
The new standard requires more extensive disclosures especially in the areas of 
ECL. The Bank expect changes in the extent of disclosures in the financial 
statements for 31 December 2018. 

 
 MFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers (effective from 1 January 2018) 

replaces MFRS 118 ‘Revenue’ and MFRS 111 ‘Construction contracts’ and related 
interpretations. The core principle in MFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue 
to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to the customer in an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange 
for those goods or services. 
 
Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of goods or services, i.e. 
when the customer has the ability to direct the use of and obtain the benefits from 
the goods or services. 
 
A new five-step process is applied before revenue can be recognised: 
 
 Identify contracts with customers; 
 Identify the separate performance obligations; 
 Determine the transaction price of the contract; 
 Allocate the transaction price to each of the separate performance obligations; 

and 
 Recognise the revenue as each performance obligation is satisfied. 
 
Key provisions of the new standard are as follows: 
 
 Any bundled goods or services that are distinct must be separately 

recognised, and any discounts or rebates on the contract price must generally 
be allocated to the separate elements. 

 If the consideration varies (such as for incentives, rebates, performance fees, 
royalties, success of an outcome etc), minimum amounts of revenue must be 
recognised if they are not at significant risk of reversal. 

 The point at which revenue is able to be recognised may shift: some revenue 
which is currently recognised at a point in time at the end of a contract may 
have to be recognised over the contract term and vice versa. 

 There are new specific rules on licenses, warranties, non-refundable upfront 
fees, and consignment arrangements, to name a few. 

 As with any new standard, there are also increased disclosures. 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

A BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 
 
(b) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards 

that are applicable to the Bank but not yet effective (continued). 
 
 IC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (effective 1 January 

2019) provides guidance on how to recognise and measure deferred and current 
income tax assets and liabilities where there is uncertainty over a tax treatment. If 
an entity concludes that it is not probable that the tax treatment will be accepted by 
the tax authority, the effect of the tax uncertainty should be included in the period 
when such determination is made. An entity shall measure the effect of uncertainty 
using the method which best predicts the resolution of the uncertainty. IC 
Interpretation 23 will be applied retrospectively. 
 

 MFRS 16 Leases (effective from 1 January 2019) supersedes MFRS 117 Leases 
and the related interpretations. 
 
Under MFRS 16, a lease is a contract (or part of a contract) that conveys the right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. 
 
MFRS 16 eliminates the classification of leases by the lessee as either finance 
leases (on balance sheet) or operating leases (off balance sheet). MFRS 16 
requires a lessee to recognise a “right-of-use” of the underlying asset and a lease 
liability reflecting future lease payments for most leases. 
 
The right-of-use asset is depreciated in accordance with the principle in MFRS 116 
‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ and the lease liability is accreted over time with 
interest expense recognised in the income statement. 
 
For lessors, MFRS 16 retains most of the requirements in MFRS 117. Lessors 
continue to classify all leases as either operating leases or finance leases and 
account for them differently. 
 

None of the standards, amendments and interpretations that are effective for financial year 
beginning after 1 January 2018 is expected to have a significant effect on the financial 
statements of the Bank, except for MFRS 9. The Bank anticipates impact to the financial 
statements in the areas of classification and measurement for financial assets and 
impairment. The final impacts are still being assessed and may be adjusted as necessary. 
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B INCOME RECOGNITION 
 
 Interest is recognised in interest income and interest expense in the income statement for all 

interest bearing financial instruments using the effective interest method. 
 
 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or 

financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the expected future cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument, or when appropriate, a shorter period, 
to the net carrying amount of the instrument. When calculating the effective interest, the Bank 
estimates cash flows (using projections based on its experience of customers’ behaviour) 
considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but excluding future credit losses. Fees 
are included in the calculation to the extent that they can be measured and are considered to be 
an integral part of the effective interest rate. 

 
 Where a financial asset is classified as impaired, interest income is recognised using the rate of 

interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. 
 
C RECOGNITION OF FEES AND OTHER INCOME 
 
 Loans and advances arrangement fees and commissions are recognised as income when all 

conditions precedent are fulfilled. 
 
 Commitment fee income relating to loans and guarantee fees is recognised over the period during 

which the related service is provided or credit risk is undertaken. 
 
D ALLOWANCES FOR LOSSES ON LOANS AND ADVANCES 
 
 Impaired loans and advances are measured at their estimated recoverable amount.  Additional 

impairment allowance is made if the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying value of the 
loans and advances.  Recoverable amount refers to the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

 
 An uncollectible loan or portion of a loan classified as impaired, may be written off, after taking into 

consideration the realisable value of collateral, if any, when in the judgement of the management, 
there is no prospect of recovery. 

 
E REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS 
 
 Securities purchased under resale agreements are securities which the Bank has purchased with a 

commitment to resell at a future date.  The commitment to resell the securities is reflected as an asset 
on the statement of financial position. 
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F FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
 Financial assets 
 
 The Bank classifies its financial assets into the following categories: financial instruments at fair value 

through profit or loss; loans and receivables; held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale 
financial assets. Management determines the classification of financial instruments at initial 
recognition. 
 
(a) Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 
 
 Financial instruments are classified in this category if they are held for trading, or if they are 

designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. 
 
 A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired principally for the purpose of 

selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified financial 
instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual 
pattern of short-term profit-taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless 
they are designated as hedges. 

 
 Financial instruments included in this category are recognised initially at fair value and 

transaction costs are taken directly to the income statement. Gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value are included directly in the income statement. 

 
 Regular way purchases and sales of financial instruments held for trading are recognised on 

trade date, being the date on which the Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
 
(b) Loans and receivables 
 
 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in an active market and which are not classified as available for 
sale.  

 
 Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental 

transaction costs, and measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.  
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F FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Financial assets (continued) 
 
(c) Held-to-maturity financial assets 
 
 Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments and fixed maturities that the Bank’s management has the positive intention and 
ability to hold to maturity. If the Bank sells other than an insignificant amount of held-to-
maturity financial assets, the entire category will be tainted and reclassified as available-for-
sale financial assets. 

 
 Held-to-maturity financial assets are initially recognised at fair value including direct and 

incremental transaction costs, and measured subsequently at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 

 
 Regular way purchases of held-to-maturity financial assets are recognised on trade date, 

being the date on which the Bank commits to purchase the asset. 
 
(d) Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
 Available-for-sale financial assets are those intended to be held for an indefinite period of 

time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, 
exchange rates or equity prices or that are not categorised into any of the other categories 
described above.  

 
 Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value including direct and 

incremental transaction costs, and are subsequently held at fair value. Gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value are included as a separate component of equity until sale 
when the cumulative gain or loss is transferred to the income statement. Interest determined 
using the effective interest method, impairment losses and translation differences on 
monetary items are recognised in the income statement. Dividends on available-for-sale 
equity instruments are recognised in the income statement when the Bank’s right to receive 
payment is established. 

 
 Regular way purchases and sales of available for sale financial instruments are recognised 

on trade date, being the date on which the Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
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F FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Bank classifies its financial liabilities into the following categories: financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss (including financial liabilities held for trading and those that designated at fair 
value), financial liabilities at amortised cost and hedging derivatives.  
 
(a) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

 
Financial instruments are classified in this category if they are held for trading, or if they are 
designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. 
 
A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the 
purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified 
financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent 
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading 
unless they are designated as hedges. Financial liabilities held for trading also include 
obligations to deliver financial assets borrowed by a short seller. 
 
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of financial liabilities classified held for 
trading are included in the income statement. 
 

(b) Other liabilities measured at amortised cost 
 
Financial liabilities that are not classified as at fair value through profit or loss fall into this 
category and are measured at amortised cost. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 
are deposits from customers, banks and related parties. 
 

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from these 
assets have ceased to exist or the assets have been transferred and substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the assets are also transferred (that is, if substantially all the risks and 
rewards have not been transferred, the Bank tests control to ensure that continuing involvement on 
the basis of any retained powers of control does not prevent derecognition). Financial liabilities are 
derecognised when they have been redeemed or otherwise extinguished. 
 
Determining fair value 
 
The fair value of financial instruments, such as exchange-traded and over-the-counter securities 
and derivatives, is determined by reference to a quoted market price for that instrument or by using 
internally developed valuation models. Where the fair value is calculated by using valuation 
models, the methodology is to calculate the expected cash flows under the terms of each specific 
contract and then discount these values back to a present value. These models use as their basis 
independently sourced market parameters including interest rate yield curves, equities prices, 
option volatilities and currency rates. 
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G DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value.  Fair values are obtained from quoted 
market prices in active markets, including recent market transactions, and valuation techniques, 
including discounted cash flow models and option pricing models, as appropriate.  All derivatives are 
carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative. 
 
Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives when 
their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract and the 
host contract is not carried at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are 
separately accounted for at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement 
unless the Bank chooses to designate the hybrid contracts at fair value through profit or loss. 
 

H IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 
The Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that loans and 
receivables or available-for-sale financial assets are impaired. These are impaired and impairment 
losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more loss events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and prior to the balance 
sheet date (‘a loss event’) and that loss event or events has had an impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the financial asset or the portfolio that can be reliably estimated. The criteria that the 
Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include: 
 
(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; 
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; 
(c) the Bank, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting 

to the borrower a concession that the Bank would not otherwise consider; 
(d) it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 
(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; 
(f) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 

flows from a portfolio of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although 
the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the portfolio, 
including: 
(i) adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio; 
(ii) national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the 

portfolio. 
 
 For loans and receivables, the Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment 

exists individually for loans and receivables that are individually significant, and individually or 
collectively for loans and receivables that are not individually significant. If the Bank determines 
that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed loan and receivable, 
whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of loans and receivables with similar 
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Loans and receivables 
that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to 
be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

 
 The amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 

and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective 
interest rate. The amount of the loss is recognised using an allowance account and recognised in 
the income statement. 
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H IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 
 Where appropriate, the calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a 

collateralised loan and receivable asset reflect the cash flows that may result from foreclosure 
costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable. 

 
 For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, loans and receivables are grouped on 

the basis of similar risk characteristics, taking into account asset type, industry, geographical 
location, collateral type, past due status and other relevant factors. These characteristics are 
relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the 
counterparty’s ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being 
evaluated. 

 
 Future cash flows in a group of loans and receivables that are collectively evaluated for impairment 

are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the group and historical 
loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical 
loss experience is adjusted based on current observable data to reflect the effects of current 
conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to 
remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not currently exist. The 
methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly to 
reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 

 
 When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment. 

Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount 
of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited to the income statement. 

 
 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 

related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the 
reversal is recognised in the income statement. 

 
I IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 
 The Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that an asset is 

impaired. An asset is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of 
the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the asset that can be reliably estimated. 

 
 Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 

impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there is separately identifiable cash flow (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

 
 The impairment loss is charged to the income statement unless it reverses a previous revaluation in 

which case it is charged to the revaluation surplus. Any subsequent increase in recoverable amount is 
recognised in the income statement unless it reverses an impairment loss on a revalued asset in 
which case it is taken to revaluation surplus. 
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J FIXED ASSETS 
 
 Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
 Depreciation of fixed assets is calculated to write off the cost of the fixed assets on a straight line basis 

to their residual values over the estimated useful lives. 
 
 The principal useful lives used are as follows: 
  Years 
 Bank premises 
  - improvements, furniture and fittings  Lower of the remaining 
  lease term or 10 years 
  - office machinery and equipment 5 
 Computers 3 - 5 
 
 The residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance 

sheet date. 
 
 Depreciation on capital work-in-progress commences when the assets are ready for their intended 

use. 
 
 At each balance sheet date, the Bank assesses whether there is any indication of impairment.  Where 

an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the asset is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount. 

 
 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and 

are included in the income statement. 
 
K CURRENCY TRANSLATIONS 
 

(a) Functional and presentation currency 
 
 The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia, which is the Bank’s functional 

and presentation currency. 
 
(b) Foreign currency transactions and balances 
 
 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the 

exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash 
flow hedges.  

 



  Company No.  

316347 D 

 
 

24 

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

K CURRENCY TRANSLATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
(b) Foreign currency transactions and balances (continued) 
 
 Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified 

as available-for-sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes 
in the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the 
security. Translation differences related to changes in the amortised cost are recognised in 
income, and other changes in the carrying amount are recognised in equity. 

 
 Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation 
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair 
value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities 
such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as 
part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial 
assets, such as equities classified as available for sale, are included in other 
comprehensive income. 

 
L INCOME TAX AND DEFERRED TAX 
 
 Current tax expense is determined according to the Malaysian tax laws and includes all taxes based 

upon the taxable profits. 
 
 Deferred tax is recognised in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 

the amount attributed to assets and liabilities for tax purposes and their carrying amounts in the 
financial statements. However, deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of transaction 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit and loss. 

 
 Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 

available against which the deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses can be utilised. 
 
 Deferred income tax related to fair value re-measurement of available-for-sale securities, which are 

charged or credited directly to equity, is also credited or charged directly to equity and is subsequently 
recognised in the income statement together with the deferred gain or loss. 

 
 Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantially 

enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is 
realised or deferred tax liability is settled. 
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M EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
 Short-term employee benefits 
 
 Wages, salaries, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits are accrued 

in the period in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Bank. 
 
 Defined contribution plan 
 
 A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Bank pays fixed contributions to the 

national pension scheme, Employees’ Provident Fund (‘EPF’). 
 
 The Bank’s contributions to EPF are charged to the income statement in the period to which they 

related.  Once the contributions have been paid, the Bank has no further payment obligations. 
 
 Equity compensation benefits 
 
 Staff costs include equity compensation expenses arising from the grant of stock-based awards to the 

employees of the Bank which are equity-settled. The details of the stock-based awards available are 
described in Note 31. 

 
 The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of stock-based awards is 

recognised as an expense in the income statement with a corresponding increase in the option 
reserve over the vesting period. The total amount to be recognised over the vesting period is 
determined by reference to the fair value of the stock–based awards on the date of the grant. Non-
market vesting conditions are included in the estimation of the number of shares under options that 
are expected to become exercisable on the vesting date. At each balance sheet date, the Bank 
revises its estimates of the number of shares under options that are expected to become exercisable 
on the vesting date as well as the number of shares that will vest on the vesting date and recognises 
the impact of the revision of the estimates in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment 
to the option reserve over the remaining vesting period. 
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N PROVISION 
 
 Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 

past events, when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, 
and when a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. 

 
O FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS 
 
 Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to 

reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when 
due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. 

 
 Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial liability at the time the guarantee is 

issued. The liability is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher of the amount 
determined in accordance with MFRS 137 “Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets” 
and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation, where appropriate. 

 
 The fair value of financial guarantees is determined as the present value of the difference in net 

cash flows between the contractual payments under the debt instrument and the payments that 
would be required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third 
party for assuming the obligations. 

 
P CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
 Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term funds and current deposit placed with 

related parties. 
 
Q OPERATING LEASES 
 
 Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor 

are classified as operating leases.  Assets under operating leases are not recognised on the 
statement of financial position.  All lease rentals payable are accounted for on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term and are charged to the statement of profit or loss. 
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R CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 
 
The Bank’s accounting policies and use of estimates are integral to understanding its reported 
results. The Bank’s most complex accounting estimates require management’s judgement to 
ascertain the valuation of assets and liabilities. The Bank has established detailed policies and 
control procedures intended to ensure that valuation methods, including any judgements made as 
part of such methods, are well-controlled, independently reviewed and applied consistently from 
period to period. In addition, the policies and procedures are intended to ensure that the process 
for changing methodologies occurs in an appropriate manner. The Bank believes its estimates for 
determining the valuation of its assets and liabilities are appropriate. The following is a brief 
description of the Bank’s critical accounting estimates involving significant valuation judgement. 
 
(a) Fair value of financial instruments 
 
 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 

an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The majority 
of the Bank’s assets reported at fair value are based upon quoted market prices or upon 
internally developed models that utilise independently sourced market parameters, 
including interest rate yield curves, option volatilities and currency rates. 

 
 The degree of management judgement involved in determining the fair value of a financial 

instrument is dependent upon the availability of quoted market prices or observable 
market parameters. For financial instruments that are traded actively and have quoted 
market prices or parameters readily available, there is little-to-no subjectivity in 
determining fair value. When observable market prices and parameters do not exist, 
management judgement is necessary to estimate fair value. The valuation process takes 
into consideration factors such as liquidity and concentration concerns and, for the 
derivatives portfolio, counterparty credit risk. 

 
 The Bank’s held for trading financial assets are valued based upon quoted market prices. 

The majority of the Bank’s derivative positions are valued using internally developed 
models that use as their basis readily observable market parameters – that is, parameters 
that are actively quoted and can be validated to external sources, including industry-
pricing services. Certain derivatives, however, are valued based upon models with 
significant unobservable market parameters – that is, parameters that must be estimated 
and are, therefore, subject to management judgement to substantiate the model valuation. 
These instruments are normally either traded less actively or trade activity is one way. 
Management’s judgement includes recording fair value adjustments (i.e., reductions) to 
model valuations to account for parameter uncertainty when valuing complex or less 
actively traded derivative transactions. 

 
(b) Allowance for losses on loans and advances 
 
 The Bank makes allowance for losses on loans and advances based on assessment of 

recoverability. Whilst management is guided by the relevant BNM guidelines, management 
makes judgement on the future and other key factors in respect of the recovery of loans 
and advances.  Among the factors considered are the net realisable value of the 
underlying collateral value, the viability of the customer’s business model, the capacity to 
generate sufficient cash flow to service debt obligations and the aggregate amount and 
ranking of all other creditor claims. 
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
 The principal activities of the Bank are banking and related financial services.  There was no 

significant change in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 
 
 The Bank is a wholly-owned subsidiary of J.P. Morgan International Finance Ltd., a corporation 

incorporated in the United States of America.  The Directors regard JPMorgan Chase & Co., a 
corporation incorporated in the United States of America, as the Bank’s ultimate holding 
corporation. 

 
 The Bank is a limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia. 
 
 The principal place of business and address of the registered office of the Bank is Level 18, 

Integra Tower, The Intermark, 348 Jalan Tun Razak, 50400 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. 
 
 
2 CASH AND SHORT-TERM FUNDS 
  2017 2016 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 
 Cash and balances with banks and other 
   financial institutions 29,684 31,646 
 Money at call and deposit placements 
   maturing within one month 3,864,002 3,887,347 
  ──────── ──────── 
  3,893,686 3,918,993 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 
3 FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING 
 
 Money market instruments 
 
 Malaysian Government Securities 534,543 362,321 
 Bank Negara Malaysia bills 4,948 145,810 
 Malaysian Treasury bills - 5,805 
 Malaysian Government Investment Issuance 246,479 75,957 
 
 Unquoted securities 
 
 Private debt securities 101,520 396,398 
  ──────── ──────── 
  887,490 986,291 
  ════════ ════════ 
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 
4 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
  Notional                         Fair values 
   amount Assets Liabilities 
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
 At 31 December 2017 
 
 Foreign exchange derivatives 
 
 Currency forwards 18,787,523 228,080 (284,851) 
 Cross-currency interest rate swaps 3,912,471 76,707 (100,586) 
 Currency options 20,273 1 - 
  ───────── ───────── ───────── 
  22,720,267 304,788 (385,437) 
  ───────── ───────── ───────── 
 Interest rate derivatives 
 
 Interest rate swaps 34,970,555 78,974 (75,279) 
 Interest rate options 1,957,647 51,418 - 
  ───────── ───────── ───────── 
  36,928,202 130,392 (75,279) 
  ───────── ───────── ───────── 
 Credit related derivatives 
 
 Credit default swaps 50,050 4,052 - 
 
 Equity related derivatives 
 
 Equity options 2,568,635 77,527 (59,252) 
  ───────── ───────── ───────── 
 Total derivative assets/(liabilities)  62,267,154 516,759 (519,968) 
  ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 
4 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
  Notional                         Fair values 
   amount Assets Liabilities 
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
 At 31 December 2016 
 
 Foreign exchange derivatives 
 
 Currency forwards 18,517,254 530,350 (413,025) 
 Cross-currency interest rate swaps 3,713,902 181,443 (239,303) 
 Currency options 389,227 12,906 (3,511) 
  ───────── ───────── ───────── 
  22,620,383 724,699 (655,839) 
  ───────── ───────── ───────── 
 Interest rate derivatives 
 
 Interest rate swaps 34,884,293 118,261 (110,632) 
 Interest rate options 999,037 32,470 (154) 
  ───────── ───────── ───────── 
  35,883,330 150,731 (110,786) 
  ───────── ───────── ───────── 
 Credit related derivatives 
 
 Credit default swaps 282,082 3,848 (5,352) 
 
 Equity related derivatives 
 
 Equity options 1,277,205 38,357 (27,396) 
  ───────── ───────── ───────── 
 Total derivative assets/(liabilities) 60,063,000 917,635 (799,373) 
  ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 
5 FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 
 
  2017 2016 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 
 Money market instruments 
 
 Malaysian Government Securities - 140,963 
 Bank Negara Malaysia bills 148,476 - 
  ──────── ──────── 
  148,476 140,963 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 
6 LOANS AND ADVANCES 
 
 (i) Loans and advances analysed by type 
    of loan are as follows: 

    Overdrafts 37,503 46,478 
    Housing loans 703 758 
    Staff loans 741 949 
    Revolving credits 175,981 511,053 
    Trade finance 93,475 60,122 
   ──────── ──────── 
   308,403 619,360 
  Less:  Allowance for losses on loans 
              and advances: 
              - Individual assessment (41) (45) 
              - Collective assessment (1,285) (1,053) 
   ──────── ──────── 
    Total net loans and advances 307,077 618,262 
   ════════ ════════ 
 



  Company No.  

316347 D 

 
 

32 

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

6 LOANS AND ADVANCES (CONTINUED) 
   2017 2016 
   RM'000 RM'000 
 
 (ii) The maturity structure of loans 
    and advances are as follows: 

    Maturity within 
     - one year 306,973 617,722 
     - one year to three years 172 209 
     - three years to five years 118 104 
     - over five years 1,140 1,325 
   ──────── ──────── 
   308,403 619,360 
   ════════ ════════ 
 
 (iii) Loans and advances analysed by 
    type of customers are as follows: 

    Domestic business enterprises 273,388 571,005 
    Individuals 1,444 1,707 
    Foreign entities 33,571 46,648 
   ──────── ──────── 
   308,403 619,360 
   ════════ ════════ 
 
 (iv) Loans and advances analysed by 
    interest sensitivity are as follows: 

    Fixed rate 
    - Housing loans 1,444 1,675 
    - Other fixed rate loans - 32 
    Variable rate 
    - Cost-plus 306,959 617,653 
   ──────── ──────── 
   308,403 619,360 
   ════════ ════════ 
 
 (v) Loans and advances analysed by their  
    economic purpose are as follows: 

    Purchase of landed properties 1,444 1,675 
    Purchase of transport vehicles - 30 
    Personal use - 2 
    Working capital 306,959 617,653 
   ──────── ──────── 
   308,403 619,360 
   ════════ ════════ 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

6 LOANS AND ADVANCES (CONTINUED) 
   2017 2016 
   RM'000 RM'000 
 
 (vi) Loans and advances analysed by their  
    geographical distribution are as follows: 

    In Malaysia 274,832 572,712 
    Other countries 33,571 46,648 
   ──────── ──────── 
   308,403 619,360 
   ════════ ════════ 
 
 (vii) Impaired loans 

 (a) Movements in impaired loans and 
    advances are as follows: 
    At 1 January 123 171 
    Classified as impaired during 
      the financial year 54 56 
    Reclassified as performing during  
      the financial year (54) (91) 
    Amount recovered (12) (13) 
    Amount written off - - 
   ──────── ──────── 
    At 31 December 111 123 
    Individual assessment allowance (41) (45) 
   ──────── ──────── 
  Net impaired loans and advances 70 78 
   ════════ ════════ 
  Ratio of net impaired loans and 
    advances to net loans and advances 0.02% 0.01% 
   ════════ ════════ 
 
 (b) Movements in allowance for impaired 
    loans and advances are as follows: 

  Individual assessment allowance 

  At 1 January 45 48 

  Written back during the financial 
    year (4) (3) 
   ──────── ──────── 
  At 31 December 41 45 
   ════════ ════════ 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

6 LOANS AND ADVANCES (CONTINUED) 
   2017 2016 
   RM'000 RM'000 
 (vii) Impaired loans (continued) 

 (b) Movements in allowance for impaired 
    loans and advances are as follows: 
    (continued) 

  Collective assessment allowance 

  At 1 January 1,053 1,603 

  Allowance made/(written-back) during the 
   financial year 232 (550) 
   ──────── ──────── 
  At 31 December 1,285 1,053 
   ════════ ════════ 
 
  Collective assessment allowance (inclusive 
    of regulatory reserve) as % of gross loans and 
    advances, net of individual assessment allowance 1.20% 1.20% 
   ════════ ════════ 
 
 (c) Impaired loans analysed by their 
    economic purpose are as follows: 
 
    Purchase of landed property 111 123 
   ════════ ════════ 
 (d) Impaired loans analysed by their 
    geographical distribution are as follows: 
 
    Malaysia 111 123 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 
7 AMOUNT DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES 
 
 Current deposits 357,284 766,746 
 Fixed deposits - 139,070 
 Other receivables 192,463 371,561 
  ──────── ──────── 
  549,747 1,277,377 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 
8 STATUTORY DEPOSITS WITH BNM 
 
 The non-interest bearing statutory deposits are maintained with BNM in compliance with Section 

26(2)(c) of the Central Bank of Malaysia Act, 2009, the amount of which is determined at set 
percentages of total eligible liabilities. 

 
 As of 31 December 2017, the Bank has RM2,000 (2016: RM2,000) statutory deposits with BNM. 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
9 OTHER ASSETS 
  2017 2016 
  RM'000 RM'000 
 
 Other receivables 49,612 253,294 
 Deposits and prepayments 4,242 20,297 
  ──────── ──────── 
  53,854 273,591 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 
10 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 
 
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same tax 
authority.  The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the 
statement of financial position. 

 
  2017 2016 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 
 Excess of depreciation over capital allowances (60) (830) 
 Financial assets available-for-sale (12) (79) 
 Other liabilities 3,182 3,312 
  ──────── ──────── 
 Deferred tax assets 3,110 2,403 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the financial year comprise the 

following: 
 
  Excess of 
  depreciation Financial 
  over assets 
  capital available- Other 
    allowances    for-sale liabilities Total 
  RM’000 RM’000 RM'000 RM'000 
 2017 
 
 At 1 January (830) (79) 3,312 2,403 
 Credited / (Debited) to income 
   statement (Note 24) 770 - (130) 640 
 Charged to reserve - 67 - 67 
  ────── ─────── ────── ────── 
 At 31 December (60) (12) 3,182 3,110 
  ══════ ═══════ ══════ ══════ 
 
 



  Company No.  

316347 D 

 
 

36 

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
10 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 
  Excess of 
  depreciation Financial 
  over assets 
  capital available- Other 
    allowances    for-sale liabilities Total 
  RM’000 RM’000 RM'000 RM'000 
 2016 
 
 At 1 January (1,289) (420) 2,886 1,177 
 Credited to income statement 
   (Note 24) 459 - 426 885 
 Charged to reserve - 341 - 341 
  ────── ─────── ────── ────── 
 At 31 December (830) (79) 3,312 2,403 
  ══════ ═══════ ══════ ══════ 
 
 
11 FIXED ASSETS 
  Bank 
  premises Computers Total 
  RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 
 2017 
 
 Cost 
 
 At 1 January 16,939 19,325 36,264 
 Additions - 1,459 1,459 
 Disposals and write-off - (2,322) (2,322) 
  ────── ────── ────── 
 At 31 December 16,939 18,462 35,401 
  ══════ ══════ ══════ 
 
 Accumulated depreciation 
 
 At 1 January 10,237 15,838 26,075 
 Charge for the financial year 2,742 2,969 5,711 
 Disposals and write-off - (2,291) (2,291) 
  ────── ────── ────── 
 At 31 December 12,979 16,516 29,495 
  ══════ ══════ ══════ 
 
 Net book value 
 
 At 31 December 3,960 1,946 5,906  
  ══════ ══════ ══════ 
 



  Company No.  

316347 D 

 
 

37 

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
11 FIXED ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
  Bank 
  premises Computers Total 
  RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 
 2016 
 
 Cost 
 
 At 1 January 16,935 18,592 35,527 
 Additions 23 917 940 
 Disposals and write-off (19) (184) (203) 
  ────── ────── ────── 
 At 31 December 16,939 19,325 36,264 
  ══════ ══════ ══════ 
 
 Accumulated depreciation 
 
 At 1 January 7,474 13,010 20,484 
 Charge for the financial year 2,769 3,012 5,781 
 Disposals and write-off (6) (184) (190) 
  ────── ────── ────── 
 At 31 December 10,237 15,838 26,075 
  ══════ ══════ ══════ 
 
 Net book value 
 
 At 31 December 6,702 3,487 10,189 
  ══════ ══════ ══════ 
 
 
12 DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS 
 
 (i) Deposits from customers analysed by type 
    of deposits are as follows: 
   2017 2016 
   RM'000 RM'000 
 
  Demand deposits 3,101,125 5,438,611 
  Fixed deposits 28,408 18,579 
   ──────── ──────── 
   3,129,533 5,457,190 
   ════════ ════════ 
 
  Maturity structure of fixed deposits are as follows: 
 
  Due within six months 28,408 18,579 
   ════════ ════════ 
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(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
12 DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED) 
 
   2017 2016 
   RM'000 RM'000 
 
 (ii) Deposits from customers analysed  
    by type of customers are as follows: 
 
  Business enterprises 3,129,157 5,456,896 
  Others 376 294 
   ──────── ──────── 
   3,129,533 5,457,190 
   ════════ ════════ 
 
 
13 DEPOSITS AND PLACEMENTS OF BANKS 
   AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 
 
 Licensed banks 220,681 236,171 
 Other financial institutions 4,081 4,139 
  ──────── ──────── 
  224,762 240,310 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 
14 AMOUNT DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 
 
 Current deposits 158,176 273,710 
 Fixed deposits 1,186,853 330,494 
 Other payables 7,699 9,536 
  ──────── ──────── 
  1,352,728 613,740 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 
15 OTHER LIABILITIES 
 
 Other payables 99,300 373,817 
 Accruals and charges 13,139 13,965 
  ──────── ──────── 
  112,439 387,782 
  ════════ ════════ 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
16 SHARE CAPITAL 
  2017 2016 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 
 Authorised: 
 100,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1 each 
    At 1 January/ 31 December - 100,000 
  ════════ ════════ 
 Issued and fully paid: 
    At 1 January 85,500 85,500 

   Transfer from share premium 42,000 - 
    At 31 December ─────── ─────── 
  127,500 85,500 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 The Companies Act 2016, which came into effect on 31 January 2017, abolished the concept of 

authorised share capital and par value of share capital. Key changes as below: 
 

(a) the removal of the authorised share capital; 
(b) the ordinary shares of the Bank will cease to have par or nominal value; and 
(c) the Bank’s share premium will become part of the share capital. 

 
 During the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the Bank has transferred RM42,000,000 

share premium to its share capital. 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

17 RESERVES 
   2017 2016 
   RM'000 RM'000 
 
 Statutory reserve - 97,778 
 Option reserve 18,053 15,914 
 Regulatory reserve 2,415 6,379 
 Fair value reserve – available-for-sale securities 40 252 
  ─────── ─────── 
  20,508 120,323 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 (i) The statutory reserve is maintained in compliance with BNM guidelines. Effective 3 May 

2017, there is no requirement to maintain statutory reserves for banking entities in 
Malaysia, in accordance with BNM Guideline –Capital funds. The Bank has released these 
reserves of RM97,778,000 and transfer back to retained earnings as of 31 December 
2017. 

 
 (ii) The option reserve is maintained in compliance with MFRS 2 - Share-based payment. 
 
 (iii) Regulatory reserve of the Bank is maintained as an additional credit risk absorbent to 

ensure robustness on the loan impairment assessment methodology. 
 
 (iv) Movement of the fair value reserve of available-for-sale securities is as follows: 
 
   2017 2016 
   RM'000 RM'000 
 
  At 1 January 252 1,332 
  Financial assets available-for-sale 
  - fair value charges (279) (1,421) 
  - deferred taxation 67 341 
   ─────── ─────── 
  At 31 December 40 252 
   ═══════ ═══════ 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
18 INTEREST INCOME 
  2017 2016 
  RM'000 RM'000 

 Loans and advances 
  - Interest income other than recoveries from 
      impaired loans 10,341 11,231 
  - Recoveries from impaired loans 6 8 
 Money at call and placements with financial institutions 72,064 145,658 
 Financial assets 
  - Held for trading 48,746 10,797 
  - Available-for-sale 4,633 4,833 
  ─────── ─────── 
  135,790 172,527 
  ═══════ ═══════ 
 
 
19 INTEREST EXPENSE 
 
 Deposits from customers 34,621 24,573 
 Deposits and placements of banks and 
   other financial institutions 12,600 70,995 
  ─────── ─────── 
  47,221 95,568 
  ═══════ ═══════ 
 
 
20 OTHER OPERATING INCOME 
 
 Fee income: 
   Service charges and fees 4,405 5,735 
   Guarantee fees 3,688 3,368 
  ─────── ─────── 
  8,093 9,103 
 Net income from securities: 
  - Net gain from sale of financial assets held 
      for trading 11,783 37,900 
  - Net unrealised (loss)/gain from revaluation of financial 
      assets held for trading (1,304) 3,536 
 
 Derivatives: 
  - Net loss on derivatives (14,710) (30,268) 
  - Unrealised gain from revaluation of derivatives 27,258 22,676 
 
 Other income: 
 Foreign exchange gain 58,415 84,404 
 Other operating income 59,082 42,237 
 Loss on sale of fixed assets (31) (13) 
 Other non-operating income 267 93 
  ─────── ─────── 
  148,853 169,668 
  ═══════ ═══════ 
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J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
21 OPERATING EXPENSES 
  2017 2016 
  RM'000 RM'000 
 
 Personnel costs: 
  - Wages, salaries and bonuses 39,065 38,257 
  - Defined contribution retirement plan 5,533 5,455 
  - Other employee benefits 8,019 8,017 
 
  52,617 51,729 
 
 Establishment costs: 
  - Equipment and fittings repairs, maintenance and rental 1,154 1,255 
  - Rental of premise 3,764 3,292 
  - Depreciation of fixed assets 5,711 5,781 
  - Utilities 769 690 
  - Others 750 784 
 
  12,148 11,802 
 
 Marketing expenses 1,549 1,071 
 
 Administration and general expenses: 
  - Management fees paid 79,976 67,500 
  - Banking and corporate expenses 3,973 4,347 
  - Office supplies, communication expenses 
      and insurance 3,781 3,982 
  - Postage and shipping charges 213 201 
  - Other general expenses 1,231 1,200 
 
  89,174 77,230 
  ─────── ─────── 
  155,488 141,832 
  ═══════ ═══════ 
 
 The above expenditure includes the following 
   statutory disclosures: 
 
 Directors' remuneration (Note 23) 4,998 5,057 
 Hire of equipment 441 544 
 Auditors' remuneration: 
  - audit fees 343 336 
  - non-audit fees 86 54 
  ═══════ ═══════ 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
22 ALLOWANCE FOR LOSSES ON LOANS AND ADVANCES 
 
  2017 2016 
  RM'000 RM'000 
 
 Allowance for losses on loans and advances: 
 
 (a) Individual assessment allowance 
   - Written back 4 3 
 
 (b) Collective assessment allowance 
   - (Made)/written back (232) 550 
 
 Loans and advances recovered/(written off) 10 (15) 
   ─────── ─────── 
  (218) 538 
  ═══════ ═══════ 
 
 
23 DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 
 
 Fees 458 500 
 Other remuneration 4,540 4,557 
  ─────── ─────── 
  4,998 5,057 
  ═══════ ═══════ 
 
 Analysis of Directors’ remuneration: 
 Executive Director: 
  - Salary, bonuses and other remuneration 4,062 4,076 
  - Defined contribution retirement plan 475 478 
  - Benefits-in-kind 3 3 
 
 Non-executive Directors: 
  - Fees/allowances 458 500 
  ─────── ─────── 
  4,998 5,057 
  ═══════ ═══════ 
 
 The details of the Directors of the Bank in office, and interest in shares, restricted stock units and 

shares options during the financial year are disclosed in the Directors’ Report. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
23 DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) 
 
 The number of Directors of the Bank whose total remuneration during the financial year fell within 

the following bands is analysed below: 
 
  2017 2016 
 
 Executive Director 
 Above RM500,001 1 1 
 
 Non-Executive Directors 
 Above RM100,001 3 4 
 RM50,001 – RM100,000 1 - 
 RM1 – RM50,000 - - 
 
 
24 TAXATION 
 
 (a) Tax expense for the financial year 
 
  Current year tax 
   - Malaysian income tax 21,812 27,976 
   - (Over) / Under provision in respect of prior year (37) 5 
 
  Deferred tax 
   - Origination and reversal of temporary differences (414) (885) 
  -  Under provision in respect of prior years (226) - 
   ─────── ─────── 
   21,135 27,096 
   ═══════ ═══════ 
 
 (b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense 
 
  The explanation on the relationship between tax expense and profit before tax is as 

follows: 
 
  2017 2016 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 
  Profit before taxation 81,716 105,333 
   ═══════ ═══════ 
 
  Tax calculated at a tax rate of 24% 19,612 25,280 
  Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,786 1,811 
  (Over) / under provision in respect of prior year (37) 5 
  Under provision of temporary differences in prior years (226) - 
   ─────── ─────── 
  Tax expense 21,135 27,096 
   ═══════ ═══════ 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
25 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
 In the normal course of business, the Bank makes various commitments and incurs certain 

contingent liabilities with legal recourse to its customers.  No material losses are anticipated as a 
result of these transactions. 

 
 The commitments and contingencies constitute the following: 
 
  2017 2016 
  Principal Principal 
    amount   amount 
  RM'000 RM'000 
 Credit-related 
 
 Direct credit substitutes 211,350 298,477 
 Transaction-related contingent items 37,791 55,796 
 Short-term self-liquidating trade related 
   contingencies 27,485 125,042 
 
 Other commitments, such as formal standby 
   facilities and credit lines, with an original 
   maturity of: 
   -  over one year 150,361 89,444 
 
 Any commitments that are unconditionally cancelled 
   at any time by the bank without prior notice or that 
   effectively provide for automatic cancellation due to 
   deterioration in borrower’s creditworthiness 1,431,395 1,135,614 
 
 Treasury-related 
 
 Foreign exchange related contracts: 
 - one year or less 18,957,817 18,985,033 
 - over one year to five years 2,742,824 2,596,930 
 - more than five years 1,019,626 1,038,420 
 
 Interest rate related contracts: 
 - one year or less 8,838,712 7,119,002 
 - over one year to five years 25,891,420 27,298,029 
 - over five years 2,198,070 1,466,299 
 
 Credit related contracts: 
 - over one year to five years 50,050 282,082 
 
 Equity related contracts: 
 - one year or less 1,855,696 903,647 
 - over one year to five years 712,939 373,558 
  ──────── ───────── 
  64,125,536 61,767,373 
  ════════ ═════════ 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

26 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 
 
 The related parties of, and their relationship with the Bank, are as follows: 
 
 Name of related parties Relationship 
 
 JPMorgan Chase & Co. Ultimate holding corporation 
 JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., New York Subsidiary of ultimate holding corporation 
    (“the Head Office”) 
 JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch of the Head Office 
 JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Labuan Branch of the Head Office 
 JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Frankfurt Branch of the Head Office 
 JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., London Branch of the Head Office 
 JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Singapore Branch of the Head Office 
 JPMorgan Securities (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd  Subsidiary of ultimate holding corporation 
 J.P. Morgan Services (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd  Subsidiary of ultimate holding corporation 
 
 Key management personnel 
 
 Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for 

planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Bank either directly or indirectly.  The key 
management personnel of the Bank includes all the Directors and members of the Management 
Committee. 

 
 Set out below are other significant related party transactions and balances. 
 
                                 2017                                2016 
   Key  Key 
  Related management Related management 
   entities       personnel  entities      personnel 
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
 Significant related party 
   transactions of the Bank: 
 
 Income 

 Interest on loans and advances - - 517 1 
 Interest on current deposit 244 - 696 - 
 Interest on fixed deposit 18 - 6,277 - 
 Management fees received 59,082 - 42,237 - 
  ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ 
 
 Expense 

 Interest on current deposit 1,401 - 1,735 - 
 Interest on fixed deposit 6,537 - 34,331 - 
 Rental recovery (1,080) - (1,026) - 
 Management fees 79,976 - 67,500 - 
  ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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26 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONTINUED) 
 
                                 2017                                2016 
   Key  Key 
  Related management  Related management 
   entities       personnel  entities      personnel 
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
 Related party balances of the Bank: 
 
 Amount due from 
 
 Staff loans  - - - 25 
 Current deposit 357,283 - 766,746 - 
 Fixed deposit - - 139,070 - 
 Other receivables 192,464 - 371,561 - 
  ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
  549,747 - 1,277,377 25 
  ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 Amount due to 
 
 Current deposit 158,176 - 273,710 - 
 Fixed deposit 1,186,853 - 330,494 - 
 Other payables 7,699 - 9,536 - 
  ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
  1,352,728 - 613,740 - 
  ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
 Transactions with related parties are aggregated because these transactions are similar in nature 

and no single transaction with these parties is significant enough to warrant separate disclosure. 
 
 Interest rates on time deposits were at normal commercial rates. 
 
 Key management compensation: 
  2017 2016 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 
 Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 11,070 12,468 
  ═══════ ═══════ 
 
  Unit Unit 
 
 Shares, restricted stock units and share options balance  
   of ultimate holding corporation 66,891 69,710 
  ═══════ ═══════ 
 
 Included in the above is the Executive Director’s compensation which is disclosed in Note 23.  The 

shares, restricted stock units and share options are granted on the same terms and conditions as 
those offered to other employees of the Bank. 
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26 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONTINUED) 
 
 Key management compensation: (continued) 
 
 Loans made to key management personnel of the Bank are on similar terms and conditions 

generally available to other employees within the Bank.  No specific allowances were required for 
loans and advances made to the key management personnel. 

 
 Credit exposures arising from transactions with connected parties 
 
 Credit exposures with connected parties as per BNM’s revised “Guidelines on Credit Transactions 

and Exposures with Connected Parties”, which became effective on 1 January 2008, are as 
follows: 

 
  2017 2016 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 
 Outstanding credit exposures with connected parties 155,625 138,466 
  ═══════ ═══════ 
 
 Percentage of outstanding credit exposures 
   to connected parties as proportion of total credit 
   exposures 5.17% 3.71% 
  ═══════ ═══════ 
 
 Percentage of outstanding credit exposures 
   with connected parties which is non-performing 
   or in default 0% 0% 
  ═══════ ═══════ 
 
 
27 NON CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 
 
 The Bank has lease commitments in respect of rented premises, which is classified as operating 

leases.  A summary of the non-cancellable long-term commitments representing minimum rentals 
which the Bank is obliged to pay are as follows: 

 
  2017 2016 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 
 Not later than one year 108 46 
 Later than one year and not later than five years 414 3 
  ═══════ ═══════ 
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28 CAPITAL ADEQUACY 
 
 The capital adequacy ratios of the Bank are computed in accordance with Bank Negara Malaysia's 

revised Risk-Weighted Capital Adequacy Framework: Standardised Approach for Credit and 
Market Risk, and Basic Indicator Approach for Operational Risk (Basel II). 

 
 The capital adequacy ratios of the Bank are as follows: 
 
  2017 2016 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 
 Tier-I capital 
 
 Paid-up share capital 127,500 85,500 
 Share premium - 42,000 
 Retained earnings 896,950 734,627 
 Fair value reserve – available-for-sale securities 40 252 
 Option reserve 18,053 15,914 
 Statutory reserve - 97,778 
  ─────── ─────── 
   1,042,543 976,071 
 
 Deferred tax assets (3,110) (2,403) 
 Available-for-sale securities (22) (138) 
  ─────── ─────── 
 Total Tier I capital 1,039,411 973,530 
  ─────── ─────── 
 
 Tier-II capital 
 
 Regulatory reserve 2,415 6,379 
 Collective assessment allowance  1,285 1,053 
  ─────── ─────── 
 Total Tier II capital 3,700 7,432 
  ─────── ─────── 
 
 Total capital 1,043,111 980,962 
  ═══════ ═══════ 
 
 Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio 25.911% 19.842% 
 Tier 1 capital ratio 25.911% 19.842% 
 Total capital ratio 26.004% 19.993% 
  ═══════ ═══════ 
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28 CAPITAL ADEQUACY (CONTINUED) 
 
 Total risk weighted assets and capital requirements as at 31 December 2017: 
 
     Risk 
   Gross Net weighted Capital 
 Exposure Class exposures exposures     assets requirements 
   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 (a) Credit Risk 
 
  On-balance sheet exposures 
  Sovereigns/central banks 4,087,691 4,087,691 81,099 6,488 
  Banks 594,364 594,364 124,962 9,997 
  Insurance companies, 
    securities firms and 
    fund managers 32,715 32,715 16,372 1,310 
  Corporates 306,960 306,960 306,960 24,557 
  Residential mortgages 1,328 1,328 508 41 
  Higher risk assets 4 4 6 - 
  Other assets 10,576 10,576 10,150 812 
  Defaulted exposures 111 111 111 9 
   ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
  Total on-balance sheet 
    exposures 5,033,749 5,033,749 540,168 43,214 
   ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
  Off-balance sheet exposures 
  Over-the-counter (‘OTC’) 
    derivatives 2,393,520 2,393,520 949,839 75,987 
  Off balance sheet exposures 
    other than OTC derivatives 310,922 310,922 302,695 24,216 
   ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
  Total off-balance sheet exposures 2,704,442 2,704,442 1,252,534 100,203 
   ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
  Total on and off-balance sheet 
    exposures 7,738,191 7,738,191 1,792,702 143,417 
   ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
    Long Short 
    position position 
 (b) Market risk 
 
  Interest rate risk  85,484,880 84,242,850 1,274,851 101,988 
  Equity position risk    - - 
  Foreign currency 
    risk  744 184,585 184,588 14,767 
  Options risk   321,413 25,713 
 
 (c) Operational risk   437,854 35,028 
     ──────── ──────── 
  Total risk weighted assets 
    and capital requirements   4,011,408 320,913 
     ════════ ════════ 
 



  Company No.  

316347 D 

 
 

51 

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
28 CAPITAL ADEQUACY (CONTINUED) 
 
 Total risk weighted assets and capital requirements as at 31 December 2016: 
 
     Risk 
   Gross Net weighted Capital 
 Exposure Class exposures exposures     assets requirements 
   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
 (a) Credit Risk 
 
  On-balance sheet exposures 
  Sovereigns/central banks 4,523,241 4,523,241 89,732 7,179 
  Banks 1,069,456 1,069,456 213,891 17,111 
  Insurance companies, 
    securities firms and 
    fund managers 622,541 622,541 314,902 25,192 
  Corporates 619,312 619,312 618,570 49,486 
  Residential mortgages 1,229 1,229 434 35 
  Higher risk assets 17 17 26 2 
  Other assets 27,989 27,989 27,357 2,189 
  Defaulted exposures 123 123 123 10 
   ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
  Total on-balance sheet 
    exposures 6,863,908 6,863,908 1,265,035 101,204 
   ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
  Off-balance sheet exposures 
  Over-the-counter (‘OTC’) 
    derivatives 2,717,421 2,717,421 1,266,361 101,309 
  Off balance sheet exposures 
    other than OTC derivatives 396,105 396,105 381,145 30,492 
   ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
  Total off-balance sheet exposures 3,113,526 3,113,526 1,647,506 131,801 
   ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
  Total on and off-balance sheet 
    exposures 9,977,434 9,977,434 2,912,541 233,005 
   ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
    Long Short 
    position position 
 (b) Market risk 
 
  Interest rate risk  81,390,360 81,613,133 1,453,306 116,265 
  Equity position risk    1,000 80 
  Foreign currency 
    risk  6,214 11 6,213 497 
  Options risk   150,900 12,072 
 
 (c) Operational risk   382,539 30,603 
     ──────── ──────── 
  Total risk weighted assets 
    and capital requirements   4,906,499 392,522 
     ════════ ════════ 
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28 CAPITAL ADEQUACY (CONTINUED) 
 
Off balance sheet counterparty risk as at 31 December 2017: 
 
  Credit Risk 
 Principal equivalent weighted 
   amount    amount*   amount 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
Direct credit substitutes 211,350 211,350 205,445 
Transaction-related contingent items 37,791 18,895 16,573 
Short-term self-liquidating trade related 
  contingencies 27,485 5,497 5,497 
 
Foreign exchange related contracts: 
- less than one year 18,957,817 524,512 250,330 
- one year to less than five years 2,742,824 295,514 128,328 
- more than five years 1,019,626 190,831 44,370 
 
Interest rate related contracts: 
- less than one year 8,838,712 43,128 18,100 
- one year to less than five years 25,891,420 848,925 297,510 
- more than five years 2,198,070 157,309 61,996 
 
Credit derivative contracts 
- one year to less than five years 50,050 11,059 2,212 
 
Equity related contracts 
- less than one year 1,855,696 194,258 71,575 
- one year to less than five years 712,939 127,984 75,418 
 
Other commitments, such as formal standby 
  facilities and credit lines, with an original 
  maturity of over one year 150,361 75,180 75,180 
 
Any commitments that are unconditionally  
cancelled at any time by the bank without prior 
notice or that effectively provide for automatic 
cancellation due to deterioration in borrower’s 
creditworthiness 1,431,395 - - 
 ───────── ───────── ───────── 
 64,125,536 2,704,442 1,252,534 
 ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 
 
* The credit equivalent amount is arrived at using the credit conversion factors as per Bank 

Negara Malaysia guidelines. 
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28 CAPITAL ADEQUACY (CONTINUED) 
 
Off balance sheet counterparty risk as at 31 December 2016: 
 
  Credit Risk 
 Principal equivalent weighted 
   amount    amount*   amount 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
Direct credit substitutes 298,477 298,477 287,625 
Transaction-related contingent items 55,796 27,898 23,791 
Short-term self-liquidating trade related 
  contingencies 125,042 25,008 25,008 
 
Foreign exchange related contracts: 
- less than one year 18,985,033 948,484 597,791 
- one year to less than five years 2,596,930 338,171 148,128 
- more than five years 1,038,420 205,961 51,392 
 
Interest rate related contracts: 
- less than one year 7,119,002 36,408 14,912 
- one year to less than five years 27,298,029 853,890 315,059 
- more than five years 1,466,299 122,397 49,329 
 
Credit derivative contracts 
- one year to less than five years 282,082 55,394 21,811 
 
Equity related contracts 
- less than one year 903,647 90,326 37,950 
- one year to less than five years 373,558 66,390 29,988 
 
Other commitments, such as formal standby 
  facilities and credit lines, with an original 
  maturity of over one year 89,444 44,722 44,722 
 
Any commitments that are unconditionally  
cancelled at any time by the bank without prior 
notice or that effectively provide for automatic 
cancellation due to deterioration in borrower’s 
creditworthiness 1,135,614 - - 
 ───────── ───────── ───────── 
 61,767,373 3,113,526 1,647,506 
 ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 
 
* The credit equivalent amount is arrived at using the credit conversion factors as per Bank 

Negara Malaysia guidelines. 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
 The Bank has developed and implemented comprehensive policies and procedures to identify, 

mitigate and monitor risk across the entity which are based on JPMC policies.  These practices 
rely on constant communications, judgement and knowledge of products and markets by the 
people closest to them, combined with regular oversight by a central risk management group and 
senior management. 

 
(i) Credit risk 
 
 Credit risk is the risk of loss from obligor or counterparty default. The Bank provides credit 

(for example, through loans, lending-related commitments, guarantees and derivatives) to 
a variety of customers, from large corporate and institutional clients to the individual 
consumer. Credit risk management actively monitors the portfolio to ensure that it is well 
diversified across industry, geography, risk rating, maturity and individual client categories. 

 
 The Bank follows the policies and practices established by JPMC’s Credit Risk Policy 

Group and BNM’s Best Practices for the Management of Credit Risk, to preserve the 
independence and integrity of the approval and decision-making process of extending 
credit, and to ensure credit risks are assessed accurately, approved properly, monitored 
regularly and managed actively at both the transaction and portfolio levels. The policy 
framework establishes credit approval authorities, concentration limits, risk-rating 
methodologies, portfolio review parameters and guidelines for management of distressed 
exposure. Management of the Bank’s exposure is accomplished through a number of 
means including: loan syndication and participations, loan sales, use of master netting 
agreements and collaterals. 
 
(a) Collateral  
 
 The Bank takes collateral as a secondary recourse to the borrower. Collaterals 

include cash, securities and guarantees. The Bank may also take fixed and 
floating charges on assets of borrowers. It has put in place policies which governs 
the determination of eligibility of various collaterals to be considered for credit risk 
mitigation which includes the minimum operational requirements that are required 
for the specific collateral to be considered as effective risk mitigants. The collateral 
is revalued periodically depending on the type of collateral. The Bank generally 
considers the collateral assets to be diversified. 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(i) Credit risk (continued) 
 

(b) Master netting arrangements 
 
 Master netting agreement is an agreement between two counterparties who have 

multiple derivative contracts with each other that provides for the net settlement of 
all contracts, as well as cash collateral, through a single payment, in a single 
currency, in the event of default on or termination of any one contract. It does not 
generally result in an offset of balance sheet assets and liabilities, as transactions 
are usually settled on a gross basis. The Bank’s overall exposure to credit risk on 
derivative instruments subject to master netting arrangements can change 
substantially within a short period, as it is affected by each transaction subject to 
the arrangement. 

 
 The Bank participates in the Derivative Credit Risk Master Insurance Policy where it pays 

a credit charge to its Head Office as a credit insurance protection for its derivative 
transactions. The head office credit portfolio management process includes entering into 
hedges using Credit Default Swaps (“CDS”), CDS Indices, Foreign Exchange, Interest 
Rate Swaps and through loan sales. 

 
 The Bank uses lending-related financial instruments, such as commitments and 

guarantees, to meet the financing needs of its customers. The contractual amount of these 
financial instruments represents the maximum possible credit risk should the 
counterparties draw down on these commitments or the Bank fulfils its obligation under 
these guarantees, and the counterparties subsequently fail to perform according to the 
terms of these contracts. In the Bank’s view, the total contractual amount of these lending-
related commitments is not representative of the Bank’s actual credit risk exposure or 
funding requirements. In determining the amount of credit risk exposure the Bank has to 
lending-related commitments, which is used as the basis for allocating credit risk capital to 
these commitments, the Bank has a “credit equivalent” amount for each commitment; this 
amount represents the portion of the unused commitment or other contingent exposure 
that is expected, based on average portfolio historical experience, to become drawn upon 
in an event of a default by an obligor. 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 

 
 Maximum exposure to credit risk 
 
 The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement 

of financial position, including derivative financial instruments. 
 
 The maximum exposure is shown gross, without taking account of any collateral held or other 

credit enhancements. 
 
  Note 2017 2016 
   RM’000 RM’000 
 
 Assets 
 
 Cash and short-term funds 2 3,893,686 3,918,993 
 Securities purchased under resale 
   agreement  46,776 602,550 
 Financial assets held for trading 3 887,490 986,291 
 Derivative financial instruments 4 516,759 917,635 
 Financial assets available-for-sale 5 148,476 140,963 
 Loans and advances 6 307,077 618,262 
  Amount due from related parties 7 549,747 1,277,377 
 Statutory deposits with BNM 8 2 2 
 Other assets 9 53,854 273,591 
 Tax recoverable  19,889 10,590 
   ──────── ──────── 
 Total assets*  6,423,756 8,746,254 
   ──────── ──────── 
 
 Commitments and contingencies 28 2,704,442 3,113,526 
   ──────── ──────── 
 Total credit exposure  9,128,198 11,859,780 
   ════════ ════════ 
 

* Excludes deferred tax assets and fixed assets. 
 
 Risk concentrations for commitments and contingencies are based on the credit equivalent 

balances in Note 28. 
 
 Where financial instruments are recorded by fair value, the amounts shown above represent the 

current credit risk exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a 
result of changes in values. 

 
 
 



  Company No.  

316347 D 

 
 

57 

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 
 
 Concentration risk by geographical sectors 
 
 Credit risk exposure analysed by country in respect of the Bank’s financial assets, including off-balance sheet financial instruments, are set out in the 

following table. 
 
 The country exposure analysis is based on the residency of the borrowers and counterparties.  In respect of derivatives financial instruments, the amount 

subject to, and hence disclosed as, credit risk is limited to the current fair value of the instruments that are favourable to the Bank (i.e. assets).  
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                              31.12.2017 
 Short-term 
 funds and 
 placements Securities Financial  Financial  Amount 
 with purchased  assets Derivative assets Loans due from  On Commitments 
 financial under resale held for financial available- and related Other balance and 
   institutions    agreement     trading instruments    for-sale advances     parties assets* sheet total contingencies 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
Malaysia 3,885,066 46,776 785,970 431,368 148,476 273,506 170,274 63,435 5,804,871 2,253,543 
United Kingdom - - - 63,792 - - 13,369 - 77,161 340,989 
USA - - - 12,998 - - 363,899 17 376,914 69,907 
Hong Kong - - - 690 - - 1,098 - 1,788 5,056 
Singapore 5,389 - - 3,427 - - 90 19,309 28,215 14,010 
Others 3,231 - 101,520 4,484 - 33,571 1,017 - 143,823 20,937 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 3,893,686 46,776 887,490 516,759 148,476 307,077 549,747 82,761 6,432,772 2,704,442 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
* Other assets include statutory deposits with Bank Negara Malaysia, tax recoverable, deferred tax assets and fixed assets. 

Risk concentrations for commitments and contingencies are based on the credit equivalent balances. 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 
 
 Concentration risk by geographical sectors (continued) 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                              31.12.2016 
 Short-term 
 funds and 
 placements Securities Financial  Financial  Amount 
 with purchased  assets Derivative assets Loans due from  On Commitments 
 financial under resale held for financial available- and related Other balance and 
   institutions    agreement     trading instruments    for-sale advances     parties assets* sheet total contingencies 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
Malaysia 3,899,490 602,550 690,442 819,486 140,963 571,614 - 43,430 6,767,975 2,713,087 
United Kingdom - - - 35,719 - - 9,627 - 45,346 223,286 
USA - - - 2,801 - - 891,804 39 894,644 74,794 
Hong Kong - - - 7,848 - - 7,450 12 15,310 14,390 
Singapore 7,405 - - 26,001 - - 362,290 253,294 648,990 42,552 
Others 12,098 - 295,849 25,780 - 46,648 6,206 - 386,581 45,417 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 3,918,993 602,550 986,291 917,635 140,963 618,262 1,277,377 296,775 8,758,846 3,113,526 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
* Other assets include statutory deposits with Bank Negara Malaysia, tax recoverable, deferred tax assets and fixed assets. 

Risk concentrations for commitments and contingencies are based on the credit equivalent balances. 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 
 
 Concentration risk by industry sectors 
 
 Credit risk exposure analysed by industry in respect of the Bank’s financial assets, including off-balance sheet financial instruments, are set out in the 

following table. 
 
 The industry sector exposure analysis is based on the industry sector of the borrowers and counterparties.  In respect of derivatives financial instruments, the 

amount subject to, and hence disclosed as, credit risk is limited to the current fair value of the instruments that are favourable to the Bank (i.e. assets).  
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                              31.12.2017 
 Short-term 
 funds and 
 placements Securities Financial  Financial  Amount 
 with purchased assets Derivative assets Loans due from  On Commitments 
 financial under resale held for financial available- and related Other balance and 
  institutions    agreement     trading instruments    for-sale advances*     parties assets** sheet total contingencies 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
Manufacturing - - - 29,015 - 164,523 - - 193,538 101,953 
Wholesale and retail - - - - - 19,188 - - 19,188 210 
Finance, insurance 
  and business 
  services 26,352 - 101,520 477,676 - 123,248 549,747 50,033 1,328,576 2,553,389 
Government and  
  Government 
  Agencies 3,866,909 46,776 785,970 2,738 148,476 - - 2 4,850,871 16,867 
Electricity, gas and 
  Water - - - 1,983 - - - - 1,983 28,943 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

(i) Credit risk (continued) 

 Concentration risk by industry sectors (continued) 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                              31.12.2017 
 Short-term 
 funds and 
 placements Securities Financial  Financial  Amount 
 with purchased  assets Derivative assets Loans due from  On Commitments 
 financial under resale held for financial available- and related Other balance and 
   institutions    agreement     trading instruments    for-sale advances*     parties assets** sheet total contingencies 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Transport, storage 
  and communication - - - 877 - - - - 877 1,327 
Individual/Purchase 
  of landed property 
  - residential - - - - - 1,403 - - 1,403 172 
Others - - - 4,470 - - - 2,803 7,273 1,581 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 3,893,261 46,776 887,490 516,759 148,476 308,362 549,747 52,838 6,403,709 2,704,442 
Assets not subject 
  to credit risk 425 - - - - - - 29,923 30,348 - 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 3,893,686 46,776 887,490 516,759 148,476 308,362 549,747 82,761 6,434,057 2,704,442 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
* Excludes collective assessment allowance amounting to RM1,285,000. 

** Other assets include tax recoverable, deferred tax assets, fixed assets and statutory deposits with Bank Negara Malaysia. 

Risk concentrations for commitments and contingencies are based on the credit equivalent balances in Note 28. 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 
 
 Concentration risk by industry sectors (continued) 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                              31.12.2016 
 Short-term 
 funds and 
 placements Securities Financial  Financial  Amount 
 with purchased  assets Derivative assets Loans due from  On Commitments 
 financial under resale held for financial available- and related Other balance and 
   institutions    agreement     trading instruments    for-sale advances*     parties assets** sheet total contingencies 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
Manufacturing - - - 43,407 - 270,256 - - 313,663 240,512 
Wholesale and retail - - - 94 - - - - 94 2,307 
Finance, insurance 
  and business 
  services 153,426 - 396,398 620,541 - 257,499 1,277,377 261,175 2,966,416 2,286,175 
Government and  
  Government 
  Agencies 3,764,935 602,550 589,893 76,923 140,963 - - 2 5,175,266 110,868 
Electricity, gas and 
  water - - - 166,218 - - - - 166,218 454,790 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

(i) Credit risk (continued) 

 Concentration risk by industry sectors (continued) 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                              31.12.2016 
 Short-term 
 funds and 
 placements Securities Financial  Financial  Amount 
 with purchased  assets Derivative assets Loans due from  On Commitments 
 financial under resale held for financial available- and related Other balance and 
   institutions    agreement     trading instruments    for-sale advances*     parties assets** sheet total contingencies 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Transport, storage 
  and communication - - - 3 - 89,897 - 12 89,912 878 
Individual/Purchase 
  of landed property 
  - residential - - - - - 1,630 - - 1,630 231 
Consumption credit - - - - - 31 - - 31 - 
Others - - - 10,449 - 2 - 11,881 22,332 17,765 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 3,918,361 602,550 986,291 917,635 140,963 619,315 1,277,377 273,070 8,735,562 3,113,526 
Assets not subject 
  to credit risk 632 - - - - - - 23,705 24,337 - 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 3,918,993 602,550 986,291 917,635 140,963 619,315 1,277,377 296,775 8,759,899 3,113,526 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
* Excludes collective assessment allowance amounting to RM1,053,000. 

** Other assets include tax recoverable, deferred tax assets, fixed assets and statutory deposits with Bank Negara Malaysia. 

Risk concentrations for commitments and contingencies are based on the credit equivalent balances in Note 28. 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 
 
 Loans and advances 
 
 Loans and advances are summarised as follows: 
 
  2017 2016 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 
 Neither past due nor impaired 308,292 619,237 
 Past due but not impaired - - 
 Individually impaired 111 123 
  ──────── ──────── 
 Gross 308,403 619,360 
 Less: Allowance for impaired loans and advances 
            - Individual assessment allowance (41) (45) 
            - Collective assessment allowance (1,285) (1,053) 
  ──────── ──────── 
 Net 307,077 618,262 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 (a) Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired 
 
  The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor 

impaired can be assessed as follows: 
 
   Corporates Individuals Total 
   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
  2017 
 
  Satisfactory 306,959 1,333 308,292 
   ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
  2016 
 
  Satisfactory 617,653 1,584 619,237 
   ════════ ════════ ════════ 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 
 
 Loans and advances (continued) 
 
 (b) Loans and advances past due but not impaired 
 
  Late processing and other administrative delays on the side of the borrower can lead to a 

financial asset being past due but not impaired.  Therefore, loans and advances less than 
90 days past due not usually considered impaired, unless other information is available to 
indicate the contrary.  Gross amount of loans and advances by class to customers that 
were past due but not impaired were as follows: 

 
   2017 2016 
   RM’000 RM’000 
 
  Past due 30 – 60 days - - 
  Past due 60 – 90 days - - 
   ──────── ──────── 
  Total - - 
   ════════ ════════ 
 
  Fair value of collateral - - 
   ════════ ════════ 
 
  Amount of over-collateralisation - - 
   ════════ ════════ 
 
 (c) Loans and advances individually impaired 
 
  The individual impaired loans and advances to customers before taking into consideration 

the cash flows from collateral held is RM111,000 (2016: RM123,000). 
 
  The breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances by class, 

along with the fair value of related collateral held by the Bank as security, are as follows: 
 
   Mortgages Total 
   RM’000 RM’000 
  2017 
 
  Gross amount 111 111 
  Fair value of collateral 397 397 
 
  2016 
 
  Gross amount 123 123 
  Fair value of collateral 397 397 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 
 
 Credit quality of financial assets 
 
 The table below presents an analysis of the credit quality of treasury bills and securities for the 

Bank by rating: 
 
   Available 
                          Held for trading          for-sale 
  Malaysian  Malaysian 
  Government  Government 
  treasury bills Private debt treasury bills 
  and securities     securities and securities Total 
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
 2017 
 
 AAA 785,970 101,520 148,476 1,035,966 
  ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 2016 
 
 AAA 589,893 396,398 140,963 1,127,254 
  ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
(ii) Market risk  
 
 Market risk comes mainly from trading and investing in client-focused activities, and is the risk of 

losses arising from adverse movements in market prices.  Market risks are most commonly sub-
divided into interest rate risk, equity risk, foreign exchange risk and commodity risk, depending on 
whether the risk factor is an interest rate, a stock price, etc.  Market risk is identified, measured, 
monitored and controlled by an independent corporate risk governance function.  Market Risk 
Management is responsible for the establishment of market risk policies and monitoring of risk 
limits. 

 
 The portfolio effect of holding different instruments across a variety of business activities and asset 

classes helps to diversify the market risk the Bank is exposed to and reduces the potential losses 
from market risk. 

 
 The Bank’s ability to measure and monitor potential losses that could arise from adverse changes 

in market conditions is key to managing market risks.  Quantitative and qualitative measures are 
an integral and crucial part in the Bank’s assessment of market risks. 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(ii) Market risk (continued) 
 
 The Bank’s primary tool for the systematic measuring and monitoring of market risk is the Value at 

Risk (“VAR”) calculation, which is measured and monitored at the regional level by lines of 
businesses.  VAR is an estimate of the expected loss in the value over a one-day time horizon.  
VAR allows for a consistent and uniform measure of market risk across all applicable products and 
activities.  To calculate VAR, the Bank uses historical simulation, which measures risk across 
instruments and portfolios in a consistent and comparable way.  This approach assumes that 
historical changes in market values are representative of future changes.  The simulation is based 
upon data for the previous twelve months. 

 
 Besides VAR, other non-statistical limits such as basis point value and net open positions are used 

as market risk tools to limit the risk to which the businesses can be exposed to. 
 
 The VAR of the Bank at the end of the financial year, based on one-day time horizon and at 99% 

confidence level, is RM2,597,000 (2016: RM6,222,000). It represents the correlation and 
consequent diversification effects between risk types and portfolio types across trading and non-
trading businesses.  However, the use of this approach does not prevent losses outside of these 
limits in the event of more significant market movements. 

 
 The quality of the VAR model is monitored by back-testing the VAR results for trading books. All 

back-testing exceptions are investigated, and all back-testing results are reported to senior 
management.  

 
 Stress tests provide an indication of the potential size of losses that could arise in extreme 

conditions. The stress tests carried out by Market Risk Management include: risk factor stress 
testing, where stress movements are applied to each risk category; emerging market stress 
testing, where emerging market portfolios are subject to stress movements; and ad hoc stress 
testing. The results of the stress tests are reviewed by senior management and by the Board of 
Directors.  
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(iii) Operational risk 
 
 Operational risk is an inherent risk element in each of the Bank’s business and support activities.  

To monitor and control such risk, the Bank maintains a system of comprehensive policies and 
control framework designed to provide a sound and well-controlled operational environment. 

 
 Primary responsibility for managing operating risk rests with the business managers.  These 

individuals, with the support of their staff, are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal 
control procedures that are appropriate for their operating environments.  To this end, the 
objectives of each business activities are identified and the risks associated with those objectives 
are assessed.  The business managers institute a series of standards and procedures to manage 
these risks and to comply with the Bank’s operational risk related policies, considering their nature 
and magnitude. 

 
 At the operational level, Internal Audit conducts annual audits and reviews on key operation areas.  

The focus of the audit is to provide assurance to management on the compliance with statutory 
requirements, laws, corporate policies and internal guidelines. 

 
(iv) Interest rate risk 
 
 Sensitivity to interest rate arises from mismatches in the interest rate characteristics of the assets 

and their corresponding funding liability.  One of the major causes of these mismatches is timing 
differences in the repricing of the assets and liabilities.  These mismatches are actively managed 
by the Bank and its holding company as part of the overall risk management process which is 
conducted within JPMC’s guidelines and in conjunction with market risk. 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(iv)  Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
The following table represents the Bank’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates as 
at balance sheet date. 
                                                                                                                                                                31.12.2017 
 Non trading book 
       Non- 
 Up to 1 - 3 3 - 12 1 - 5 Over Trading interest 
 1 month months months years 5 years      book sensitive  Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
Assets 
Cash and short-term funds 3,863,168 - - - - - 30,518 3,893,686 
Securities purchased under resale 
  agreement 46,759 - - - - - 17 46,776 
Financial assets held for trading - - - - - 887,490  - 887,490 
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 516,759 - 516,759 
Financial assets available- 
  for-sale - - 148,476 - - - - 148,476 
Loans and advances 
 - Performing  172,204 74,865 59,904 231 1,088 - (1,326)^ 306,966 
 - Non-performing - - - - - - 111 111 
Amount due from related parties 18,935 - - - - - 530,812 549,747 
Statutory deposits with BNM - - - - - - 2 2 
Other assets # - - - - - - 82,759 82,759 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Total assets 4,101,066 74,865 208,380 231 1,088 1,404,249 642,893 6,432,772 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
^ Includes individual assessment allowance and collective assessment allowance amounting to RM1,326,000. 
# Includes tax recoverable assets, deferred tax assets, fixed assets and other assets. 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(iv)  Interest rate risk (continued) 
 

                                                                                                                                                                31.12.2017 
 Non trading book 
       Non- 
 Up to 1 - 3 3 - 12 1 - 5 Over Trading interest 
 1 month months months years 5 years     book sensitive Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
Liabilities 
Deposits from customers 1,761,055 - - - - - 1,368,478 3,129,533 
Deposits and placements of banks 
  and other financial institutions 147,252 - - - - - 77,510 224,762 
Obligations on securities sold under 
  repurchase agreements 47,942 - - - - - 442 48,384 
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 519,968 - 519,968 
Amount due to related parties 1,169,590 - 23,894 - - - 159,244 1,352,728 
Other liabilities - - - - - - 112,439 112,439 
 ──────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ──────── ──────── 
Total liabilities 3,125,839 - 23,894 - - 519,968 1,718,113 5,387,814 
 ════════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ════════ ════════ 
 
Interest rate gap 975,227 74,865 184,486 231 1,088 
 ════════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(iv)  Interest rate risk (continued) 

                                                                                                                                                                31.12.2016 
 Non trading book 
       Non- 
 Up to 1 - 3 3 - 12 1 - 5 Over Trading interest 
 1 month months months years 5 years      book sensitive  Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
Assets 
Cash and short-term funds 3,884,962 - - - - - 34,031 3,918,993 
Securities purchased under resale 
  agreement 601,911 - - - - - 639 602,550 
Financial assets held for trading - - - - - 986,291  - 986,291 
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 917,635 - 917,635 
Financial assets available- 
  for-sale - - 140,169 - - - 794 140,963 
Loans and advances 
 - Performing  463,839 153,814 69 190 1,325 - (1,098)^ 618,139 
 - Non-performing - - - - - - 123 123 
Amount due from related parties 506,061 - - - - - 771,316 1,277,377 
Statutory deposits with BNM - - - - - - 2 2 
Other assets # - - - - - - 296,773 296,773 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Total assets 5,456,773 153,814 140,238 190 1,325 1,903,926 1,102,580 8,758,846 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
^ Includes individual assessment allowance and collective assessment allowance amounting to RM1,098,000. 
# Includes tax recoverable assets, deferred tax assets, fixed assets and other assets. 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(iv) Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
                                                                                                                                                                31.12.2016 
 Non trading book 
       Non- 
 Up to 1 - 3 3 - 12 1 - 5 Over Trading interest 
 1 month months months years 5 years     book sensitive Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
Liabilities 
Deposits from customers 4,255,207 - - - - - 1,201,983 5,457,190 
Deposits and placements of banks 
  and other financial institutions 151,483 - - - - - 88,827 240,310 
Obligations on securities sold under 
  repurchase agreements 275,710 - - - - - 2,291 278,001 
Derivative financial instruments - - -  - 799,373 - 799,373 
Amount due to related parties 184,620 22,430 123,265 - - - 283,425 613,740 
Other liabilities - - - - - - 387,782 387,782 
 ──────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ──────── ──────── 
Total liabilities 4,867,020 22,430 123,265 - - 799,373 1,964,308 7,776,396 
 ════════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ════════ ════════ 
 
Interest rate gap 589,753 131,384 16,973 190 1,325 
 ════════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
(iv) Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
The tables below summarises the effective average interest rate by major currencies for each class 
of financial assets and financial liabilities. The calculation of effective average interest rate excludes 
non-interest bearing financial assets and financial liabilities. 
 
                    2017                   2016 
 RM USD RM USD 
 % % % % 
Financial assets 
 
Cash and short-term funds 2.75 1.27 3.01 0.63 
Securities purchased under 
  resale agreement 2.75 - 2.70 - 
Financial assets held for trading 3.89 - 3.38 - 
Financial assets available- 
  for-sale 3.01 - 3.46 - 
Loans and advances 4.59 2.58 3.68 2.28 
Amount due from related parties - 1.93 - 0.61 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
Deposits from customers 1.89 0.24 2.22 0.23 
Deposits and placements of banks 
  and other financial institutions 2.99 0.87 3.18 0.39 
Obligations on securities sold under 
  repurchase agreements 4.49 - 4.03 - 
Amount due to related parties 0.03 1.30 0.03 0.23 
 

(v) Currency risk 
 
Currency risk is the risk to earnings and value of financial instruments caused by the fluctuations in 
foreign exchange rates. It is managed in conjunction with market risk. 
 
The table below sets out the Bank’s exposure to currency risk.  Included in the table are the Bank’s 
financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by currency. 
 
 



  Company No.  

316347 D 

 
 

73 

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(v) Currency risk (continued) 

 
 MYR USD EUR Others Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 
2017 
 
Assets 
 
Cash and short-term funds 3,461,841 423,225 - 8,620 3,893,686 
Securities purchased 
  under resale agreement 46,776 - - - 46,776 
Financial assets held for 
  trading 887,490 - - - 887,490 
Derivative financial 
  instruments 426,709 89,378 131 541 516,759 
Financial assets available- 
  for-sale 148,476 - - - 148,476 
Loans and advances 63,695 150,171 2 93,209 307,077 
Amount due from related  
  parties - 547,901 900 946 549,747 
Other assets# 55,769 26,887 7 98 82,761 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 5,090,756 1,237,562 1,040 103,414 6,432,772 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
Liabilities 
 
Deposits from customers 1,200,251 1,899,354 21,093 8,835 3,129,533 
Deposits and placements 
  of banks and other 
  financial institutions 163,372 61,010 - 380 224,762 
Obligations on securities 
  sold under repurchase  
  agreements 48,384 - - - 48,384 
Derivative financial 
  instruments 331,197 180,328 7,789 654 519,968 
Amount due to related 
  parties 182,170 1,078,203 - 92,355 1,352,728 
Other liabilities 104,030 8,347 13 49 112,439 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 2,029,404 3,227,242 28,895 102,273 5,387,814 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
Currency gap 3,061,352 (1,989,680) (27,855) 1,141 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
#   Includes statutory deposits with BNM, tax recoverable, deferred tax assets, fixed assets and 

other assets. 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(v) Currency risk (continued) 

 
 MYR USD EUR Others Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
2016 
 
Assets 
 
Cash and short-term funds 3,316,932 582,544 - 19,517 3,918,993 
Securities purchased 
  under resale agreement 602,550 - - - 602,550 
Financial assets held for 
  trading 986,291 - - - 986,291 
Derivative financial 
  instruments 683,458 234,177 - - 917,635 
Financial assets available- 
  for-sale 140,963 - - - 140,963 
Loans and advances 96,700 336,742 - 184,820 618,262 
Amount due from related 
  parties - 1,259,882 6,159 11,336 1,277,377 
Other assets# 295,695 272 4 804 296,775 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 6,122,589 2,413,617 6,163 216,477 8,758,846 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
Liabilities 
 
Deposits from customers 1,220,210 4,141,092 51,906 43,982 5,457,190 
Deposits and placements 
  of banks and other 
  financial institutions 135,558 104,752 - - 240,310 
Obligations on securities 
  sold under repurchase  
  agreements 278,001 - - - 278,001 
Derivative financial 
  instruments 434,154 365,219 - - 799,373 
Amount due to related 
  parties 397,063 31,978 - 184,699 613,740 
Other liabilities 372,117 15,108 14 543 387,782 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 2,837,103 4,658,149 51,920 229,224 7,776,396 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
Currency gap 3,285,486 (2,244,532) (45,757) (12,747) 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
#   Includes statutory deposits with BNM, tax recoverable, deferred tax assets, fixed assets and 

other assets. 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(vi) Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its cash flow obligations as they fall due, 
such as upon the maturity of deposits and loan draw downs. 
 
It is unusual for any bank to completely match the maturity profile of its assets and liabilities as 
business transacted is often of uncertain terms and of different types.  Therefore, controlled 
mismatching of the maturities of assets and liabilities is fundamental to prudent liquidity risk 
management of the Bank. 
 
The Bank closely monitors its liquidity risk profile with a variety of tools which includes cash flow 
forecasts and maturity mismatch reports.  The Bank has established funding guidelines on the 
amount of external funding it obtains and conducts regular stress-testing to ensure that it will be able 
to meet its obligations when they come due. 
 
The table below analyses the Bank’s non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities into 
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the 
contractual maturity date.  The amounts disclosed in the table are in the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows. 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(vi) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
 

 Up to 1 1 – 3 3 – 12 1 – 5 Over 5 No specific 
   month months months years years      maturity Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
2017 

Assets 

Short-term funds and 
  placements with 
  financial institutions 3,864,536 - - - - 29,684 3,894,220 
Financial assets  
  held-for-trading - 891,353  - - - - 891,353 
Financial assets 
  available-for-sale - - 150,000 - - - 150,000 
Loans and advances 171,971 74,796 58,934 264 1,112 - 307,077 
Amount due from 
  related parties - - - - - 549,747 549,747 
Securities purchased  
  under resale 
  agreement 50,132 - - - - - 50,132 
Statutory deposits 
  with Bank Negara 
  Malaysia - - - - - 2 2 
Other assets 52,481 - - - - 356 52,837 
 ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
Total financial assets 4,139,120 966,149 208,934 264 1,112 579,789 5,895,368 
 ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ 
 
 
 Up to 1 1 – 3 3 – 12 1 – 5 Over 5 No specific 
   month months months years   years      maturity Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
Liabilities 

Deposits from 
  Customers 28,424 - - - - 3,101,125 3,129,549 
Deposits and 
  placements of 
  banks and other 
  financial institutions 900 - - - - 223,862 224,762 
Amount due to 
  related parties 1,328,872 - 25,188 - - - 1,354,060 
Obligations on 
  securities sold 
  under repurchase  
  agreements  48,501 - - - - - 48,501 
Other liabilities 80,467 69 - - - 31,903 112,439 
 ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
Total financial 
  Liabilities 1,487,164 69 25,188 - - 3,356,890 4,869,311 
 ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(vi) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
 Up to 1 1 – 3 3 – 12 1 – 5 Over 5 No specific 
   month months months years years      maturity Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
2016 

Assets 

Short-term funds 
  and placements 
  with financial 
  institutions 3,888,124 - - - 31,646 3,919,770 
Financial assets  
  held-for-trading 87,903 902,019  - - - - 989,922 
Financial assets 
  available-for-sale - - 142,320 - - - 142,320 
Loans and advances 451,749 164,863 67 276 1,308 - 618,263 
Amount due from 
  related parties 501,047 - - - - 776,336 1,277,383 
Securities purchased 
  under resale 
  agreement 461,069 170,448 - - - - 631,517 
Statutory deposits 
  with Bank Negara 
  Malaysia - - - - - 2 2 
Other assets 253,357 - 3,129 2,803 - 13,778 273,067 
 ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
Total financial assets 5,643,249 1,237,330 145,516 3,079 1,308 821,762 7,852,244 

  ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ 
 

 
 Up to 1 1 – 3 3 – 12 1 – 5 Over 5 No specific 
   month months months years years      maturity Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
Liabilities 

Deposits from 
  Customers 18,615 - - - - 5,438,611 5,457,226 
Deposits and 
  placements of 
  banks and other 
  financial institutions 3,200 - - - - 237,110 240,310 
Amount due to 
  related parties 468,090 22,447 123,640 - - - 614,177 
Obligations on 
  securities sold 
  under repurchase  
  agreements  140,515 138,578 - - - - 279,093 
Other liabilities 340,382 46 - 2,803 - 44,551 387,782 
 ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
Total financial 
  liabilities 970,802 161,071 123,640 2,803 - 5,720,272 6,978,588 
 ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(vi) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
The table below analyses the Bank’s derivative financial instruments based on the remaining period 
from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.  The amounts disclosed in the table are 
in the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
 
 Up to 1 1 – 3 3 – 12 1 – 5   Over 5 
   month months months years   years Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
2017 
 
Net-settled 
  Derivatives 8,929 27,715 15,788 (15,064) (7,446) 29,922 
Gross-settled 
  derivatives 
  - Receipts 5,598,263 7,663,864 4,865,743 3,071,414 1,089,441 22,288,725 
  - Payments (5,597,259) (7,668,083) (4,858,440) (3,094,115) (1,081,772) (22,299,669) 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 9,933 23,496 23,091 (37,765) 223 18,978 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
2016 
 
Net-settled 
  derivatives 735   11,671   16,731   (3,394)  (5,528)  20,215 
Gross-settled 
  derivatives 
  - Receipts 4,373,214   5,216,085   6,856,927   2,756,043   1,093,001   20,295,270 
  - Payments (4,371,047)  (5,220,062)  (6,859,322)  (2,773,167)  (1,088,236)  (20,311,834) 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 2,902   7,694   14,336   (20,518)  (763)  3,651 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
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30 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

 
(a) Financial instruments not measured at fair value 
 
 (i) Certain financial instruments 
 

 For cash and short-term funds, securities purchased under resale agreement, 
deposits and placements with banks and other financial institutions, amount due 
from/to related parties, statutory deposits with BNM, deposits from customers, 
deposits and placements of banks and other financial institutions with maturities of 
less than one year, the carrying value is a reasonable estimate of fair value.  

 
 For balances relating to the above classes of financial instruments with maturities 

of more than one year, the carrying value approximates the fair value as these 
balances are subject to variable interest rate. 

 
(ii) Loans and advances 
 
 For performing fixed rate loans, fair values have been estimated by discounting 

the estimated cash flows using the prevailing market rates of loans and advances 
with similar credit ratings and maturities.  For floating-rate loans, the carrying 
amount is generally a reasonable estimate of fair value. 

 
 The fair value of impaired loans, fixed or floating are based on the carrying value 

less impairment allowances, being the expected recoverable amount.  In arriving 
at the fair values for loans on the above bases, the total fair value of the entire 
loan portfolio has been reduced by RM1,326,000 (2016: RM1,098,000), being the 
carrying value of the collective allowance for doubtful debts which covers 
unidentified losses inherent in the portfolio. 

 
(iii) Credit commitments 
 
 The estimated fair values are not readily ascertainable as these financial 

instruments are generally not traded.  In addition, the quantum of fees collected 
under these arrangements, upon which a fair value could be based, is not 
material. 

 



  Company No.  

316347 D 

 
 

80 

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
30 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

 
(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value 
 

(i) Financial assets held for trading and financial assets available-for-sale 
 
 The estimated fair value is generally based on quoted market prices and 

observable market prices.  Where there is no ready market in certain securities, 
the Bank establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.  These include the 
use of recent arm’s length transactions, discounted cash flow analysis, and other 
valuation techniques commonly used by market participants. 

 
(ii) Derivative financial instruments 
 
 The fair value of foreign exchange derivatives, interest rate derivatives and equity 

derivatives is the estimated amount the Bank would receive or pay to terminate 
the contracts at the reporting date. 

 
 MFRS 13 requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair 

value measurement hierarchy: 
 
 (a) Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities; 
 (b) Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability either directly (ie. as prices) or indirectly (ie. 
derived from prices); and 

 (c) Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 
data (unobservable inputs). 

 
 The following table represents the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair 

value as at financial year ended: 
 
 2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 Financial assets 
 
 Financial assets held 
   for trading - 887,490 - 887,490 
 Derivative financial  
   Instruments - 516,759 - 516,759 
 Financial assets available- 
   for-sale - 148,476 - 148,476 
 
 Financial liabilities 
 
 Derivative financial  
   instruments - 519,968 - 519,968 
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30 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

 
(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued) 
 
 The following table represents the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair 

value as at financial year ended: (continued) 
 
 2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 Financial assets 
 
 Financial assets held 
   for trading - 986,291 - 986,291 
 Derivative financial  
   instruments - 917,635 - 917,635 
 Financial assets available- 
   for-sale - 140,963 - 140,963 
 
 Financial liabilities 
 
 Derivative financial  
   instruments - 799,373 - 799,373 
 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as financial assets 
held for trading and financial assets available-for-sale) is based on quoted market prices at 
the balance sheet date.  The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the 
Bank is the current bid price.  These instruments are included in Level 1. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, 
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques.  The Bank uses 
a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing 
of each date of statement of financial position.  Other techniques, such as estimated 
discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial 
instruments.  The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows.  The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is 
determined using quoted forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date.  These 
investments are included in Level 2 and comprise debt investments and derivative 
financial instruments.  In infrequent circumstances where the valuation technique for these 
instruments is based on significant unobservable inputs, such instruments are included in 
Level 3. 
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31 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
 Equity compensation benefits 
 

The incentive compensation benefits are determined by the ultimate holding corporation, JPMC. 
The following schemes are applicable to the employees of JPMC: 
 
Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) 
 
Under the LTIP, common stock-based awards, including stock options, restricted stock, and 
restricted stock units (“RSU”) are granted to certain key employees employed by JPMC and its 
subsidiaries. 
 
Stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to JPMC’s common stock price on the grant 
date. Generally, options cannot be exercised until at least one year after the grant date and 
become exercisable over various periods as determined at the time of the grant. These awards 
generally expire 10 years after grant date. 
 
Restricted stock and RSUs are granted by JPMC at no cost to the recipient. These awards are 
subject to forfeiture until certain restrictions have lapsed, including continued employment for a 
specific period. The recipient of a share of restricted stock is entitled to voting rights and dividends 
on the common stock. An RSU entitles the recipient to receive a share of common stock after the 
applicable restrictions lapse; the recipient is entitled to receive cash payments equivalent to any 
dividends paid on the underlying common stock during the period the RSU is outstanding. 
 
Value Sharing Plan is a broad-based employee stock option plan in which JPMC grants stock 
options to other employees as recognition of the services rendered. 
 
(a) Restricted Stock and RSUs 
 
 Compensation expense for restricted stock and RSUs is measured based upon the 

number of shares granted multiplied by the stock price at the grant date, and is recognised 
in the income statement. 

 
                                  2017                                 2016 
   Weighted  Weighted 
   average fair  average fair 
  Number of value at  Number of value at 
  restricted grant date  restricted grant date 
  stock/RSU             USD stock/RSU            USD 
 
 Outstanding at 1 January 22,591 56.83 24,412 54.63 
 Granted during the year 7,143 84.25 9,627 57.24 
 Exercised during the year (9,229) 87.14 (10,151) 58.29 
 Cancelled during the year (354) 63.56 (1,297) 56.82 
 Transferred during the year 377 66.24 - - 
  ────── ────── ────── ────── 
 Outstanding at 31 December 20,528 66.24 22,591 56.83 
  ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 
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32 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILIITIES 
 
(a) Financial assets 
 
 The following financial assets are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar arrangements. 
 

  Gross amount Related amounts not set off in the  
  of recognised        statement of financial position 
  financial Net amount of 
 Gross liabilities set financial assets 
 amount of off in the presented in the  Cash 
 recognised statement of  statement of Financial collateral 
 financial assets financial position financial position instruments  received Net amount 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
2017 
 
Derivative financial instruments 516,759 - 516,759 - 151,344 365,415 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
2016 
 
Derivative financial instruments 917,635 - 917,635 - 157,166 760,469 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
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32 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILIITIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(b) Financial liabilities 

 
The following financial assets are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar arrangements 
 
  Gross amount Related amounts not set off in the  
  of recognised       statement of financial position 
  financial Net amount of 
 Gross assets set financial liabilities 
 amount of off in the presented in the  Cash 
 recognised statement of  statement of Financial collateral 
 financial liabilities financial position  financial position instruments     placed Net amount 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
2017 
 
Derivative financial instruments 519,968 - 519,968 - 36,653 483,315 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
2016 
 
Derivative financial instruments 799,373 - 799,373 - 138,887 660,486 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
For the financial assets and liabilities subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar arrangements above, each agreement 
between the Bank and the counterparty allows for net settlement of the relevant financial assets and liabilities when both elect to settle on a net 
basis.  In the absence of such an election, financial assets and liabilities will be settled on a gross basis, however, each party to the master 
netting agreement or similar agreement will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party. 
 



  Company No.  

316347 D 

 
 

85 

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

33 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The financial statements have been approved for issue in accordance with a resolution of the 
Board of Directors on 27 May 2018. 
 
 
 












